

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Information Communication and Technology Strategies for Improving Nonprofit Organizations' Effectiveness

Richard T. Evans Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Databases and Information Systems Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Richard T. Evans

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Ronald Black, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. John Hannon, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Yvette Ghormley, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Information Communication and Technology Strategies for Improving Nonprofit

Organizations' Effectiveness

by

Richard T. Evans

MSCS, Governors State University, 2012

MSMIS, Governors State University, 2006

MBA, Governors State University, 1999

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Business Administration

> Walden University June 2022

Abstract

Some nonprofit organization leaders lack strategies to incorporate information communication and technology (ICT) into the business operations of organizations. A nonprofit organization lacking strategies involving integrating technology into their business operations decrease the likelihood of being efficient, productive, and effective. Grounded in the information technology (IT) competency model, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the ICT strategies of a nonprofit organization leader in the south suburbs of Chicago. Data were collected semi-structured interviews, direct observations, and reviews of organizational documents. The Marshall and Rossman seven-step process was used to analyze data. Three themes emerged from data analysis: selection and implementation of software, employee training and adaptation, and improved process and productivity. A key recommendation is for leaders of a nonprofit organization to acquire and implement software that integrates with other software to meet the needs of business operations. Implications for positive social change include the potential to implement an efficient technological environment that will allow for increased services throughout the south suburbs of Chicago.

Information Communication and Technology Strategies for Improving Nonprofit

Organizations' Effectiveness

by

Richard T. Evans

MSCS, Governors State University, 2012 MSMIS, Governors State University, 2006 MBA, Governors State University, 1999

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2022

Dedication

I would like to thank God, Almighty. God has guide through my DBA journey and continue to be a guidance in my life. I would like to thank wife, Linda A. Evans, for her continuous support. My wife encouragement and love got me through the tough time and for that I appreciate you and I love you. I would like to thank my son, Terrance R. Evans, for inspiring me and reminding me to focus on my goal. My son is a constant reminder of dedication and hard work. I am so proud of him and I love you.

I would like to dedicate my doctoral study to my deceased mother, Blanche N. Evans, (deceased) and my father, Tommie L. Evans (decreased). Without the work ethics that my parents instill within me, this accomplishment would not have been possible. I worked very hard to make them proud. I love and miss you every day.

Acknowledgments

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my chair, Dr. Ronald Black. I cannot thank you enough for your guidance and inspiration throughout my journey I knew this process would be challenging but it was a goal of mine to earn a doctorate degree. I appreciate Dr. Ronald Black's patience and expertise of the doctoral process. I would like to thank Dr. John C. Hannon for his advice and guidance. I would like to thank my URR, Dr Yvette Ghormely, for your patience and taking the time to review my work and guiding me through my journey. My doctoral study would not have been completed without the dedicated individuals on my committee. I thank you.

Table of Contents

| List of Tablesv |
|--|
| Section 1: Foundation of the Study1 |
| Background of the Problem1 |
| Problem Statement1 |
| Purpose Statement2 |
| Nature of the Study2 |
| Research Question4 |
| Interview Questions4 |
| Conceptual Framework |
| Operational Definitions5 |
| Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations6 |
| Assumptions |
| Limitations7 |
| Delimitations7 |
| Significance of the Study7 |
| Implications for Positive Social Change |
| A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature |
| Literature Review Search |
| IT Competency Model |
| TAM 10 |

| UTAUT | |
|---|----|
| Future of Technology in the Workplace | |
| General Theory of Employment, Interest, and Money | |
| ICT 13 | |
| ERP 14 | |
| ICT Model | |
| Technology Advancement | |
| Cybersecurity | |
| Nonprofit Organizations and Leadership | |
| Operational Effectiveness | |
| Management and Technology | |
| Transition | 54 |
| Section 2: The Project | 56 |
| Purpose Statement | 56 |
| Role of the Researcher | 56 |
| Participants | 57 |
| Research Method and Design | 58 |
| Research Method | 58 |
| Research Design | 59 |
| Population and Sampling | 61 |
| Ethical Research | 62 |

| Data Collection Instruments | 64 |
|---|----|
| Data Collection Technique | 66 |
| Data Organization Technique | 68 |
| Data Analysis | 69 |
| Reliability and Validity | 70 |
| Reliability | 70 |
| Transition and Summary | 72 |
| Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change | 73 |
| Introduction | 73 |
| Presentation of the Findings | 73 |
| Theme 1: Implementation and Selection of Software | 74 |
| Theme 2: Employee Adaptation and Training | 75 |
| Theme 3: Process Improvement and Increased Productivity | 75 |
| Other Relevant Findings | 76 |
| Application to Professional Practice | 77 |
| Implications for Social Change | 78 |
| Recommendation for Action | 79 |
| Recommendations for Further Research | 80 |
| Reflection on the DBA Journey | 80 |
| Conclusion | 81 |
| References | |

| Appendix A: Email Invitation to Participate in the Study | |
|--|--|
| Appendix B: Interview Questions | |
| Appendix C: Informed Consent Form | |
| Appendix D: Observation Protocol | |

List of Tables

| 0 |
|---|
| (|

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Background of the Problem

Nonprofit organizations contribute to the American economy. Nonprofit organizations employ 12.3 million individuals, 64 million nonprofit board members and volunteers, and tens of millions of donors who support the work of nonprofits (National Council of Nonprofits, 2019). Industries and businesses evolve and change rapidly, mainly as a result of the wide diffusion of information and communication technologies (ICT) within organizations (Giotopoulos et al., 2017). ICT can be defined as new technologies which enable and facilitate a broad range of business activities related to the storage, processing, distribution, transmission, and reproduction of information (Giotopoulos et al., 2017). The study's foundation is that ICT tools and services can increase the productivity and efficiency of nonprofit organizations. Increasing technology in nonprofit organizations allows for nonprofit organizations to provide more effective services through improved work processes (Boles, 2019). Nonprofit organizational leadership lacks ICT knowledge and expertise to implement tools and services into their business operations.

Problem Statement

Many organizations seek organizational effectiveness in an era of industry disruption via innovative business models to survive in competitive industries (Manoharan & Singal, 2019). Social media and online technology account for 7.6% of nonprofit fundraising revenues (Shin, 2019, p. 18). The general business problem is that some nonprofit organizational leaders do not have the expertise to implement ICT into operations, resulting in an inefficient business operation. The specific business problem is that nonprofit leaders lack strategies to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve nonprofit organizational efficiencies and effectiveness.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study to explore strategies used by nonprofit leaders to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve nonprofit organizational efficiencies and effectiveness. This study's target population was three organizational leaders of a nonprofit organization in Illinois who have successfully used strategies to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve organizational efficiencies and effectiveness. Results of this study may contribute to organizational efficiencies by the adoption of ICT, allowing for increased services to the community.

Nature of the Study

There are three research methodologies: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method (Saunders et al., 2016). The qualitative methodology was used in this proposed study. Qualitative research involves a holistic and complex view of the social world (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). It is based on an interpretive approach to environments. It relies on social interaction (Saunders et al., 2016). Using the qualitative methodology allows exploration of real-world scenarios (Saunders et al., 2016). The methodology requires the researcher to be interpretive, emergent, and evolving rather than tightly prefigured (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). It is characterized by deductive approaches to the research process aimed at proving, disproving, or lending credence to existing theories. It involves measuring and testing relationships between variables in order to

reveal patterns, correlations, and casual relationships (Leavy, 2017). The quantitative methodology is not suitable for this study because it requires using an interpretive approach to interview data and not examining variable characteristics, correlations, or differences. Mixed methods research involves collecting, analyzing, and integrating both qualitative and quantitative methods in a single project (Leavy, 2017). The mixed methodology is not appropriate as addressing the study's purpose did not require using the quantitative method.

There are four major qualitative research designs: narrative, phenomenology, ethnography, and case study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I used a single case study design. A case study design is primarily a social science research methodology used to investigate a phenomenon in depth in its real-world context (Yin, 2018). The case study design is the chosen design because it reflects real-world contexts (Yin, 2018). A case study is appropriate because it allows the researcher to focus in-depth on a case and retain holistic and real-world perspectives (Yin, 2018). A single case study can be used to identify and explore unique circumstances and conditions of a situation of particular interest (Yin, 2018). As a researcher, there is an opportunity to uncover a prevalent phenomenon that was previously inaccessible, and such conditions justify the use of a single case study (Yin, 2018). By contrast, phenomenology researchers focus on the meaning of individuas personal lived experiences. The phenomenological approach involves exploring, describing, and analyzing meanings of individual lived experience (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The phenomenological research design was not appropriate for this study because its focus is on a business case, not personal meanings of

participants' lived experiences. The ethnographic research design involves the study of cultures of a particular group of people. The ethnographic design involves analysis of interactions within culture groups (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Since the proposed study focuses on individual experiences that could affect multiple people, the ethnography research design is not appropriate for this study.

Research Question

What strategies do nonprofit leaders use to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve nonprofit organizational efficiencies and effectiveness?

Interview Questions

- 1. How is ICT used in your organization?
- 2. What key challenges have you faced when implementing ICT strategies into your organization, and how did you overcome those challenges?
- 3. What strategies do you use to incorporate ICT into your business operations?
- 4. How do you address key challenges to integrating ICT in your organization's business operations to improve organization efficiencies and effectiveness?
- 5. How does ICT technologies improve duties and tasks of the staff of your organization?
- 6. How does ICT technology improve services that are offered by the organization?
- 7. What additional information can you provide about ICT strategies used to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of business operations of your organization?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework in this study is the information technology (IT) competency model. The U.S. Department of Labor, Employment, and Training (DOLETA) developed the IT competency model which was introduced in September 2012. The goal was to provide education and training to increase workplace efficiency. The purpose of the competency model developed by McClelland, Boyatzis, Sandwith, and Bassellier et al. is to increase managers' abilities to understand and adapt to new technologies. The IT competency model involves using technology to increase efficiency in workplace environments. The model is used to develop strategies for business professional in terms of developing skills in the workplace. The IT competency model is a conceptual framework that can help business managers obtain a better understanding of concepts, assumptions, expectations, and theories related to increasing employee competencies in the workplace (Imenda, 2014). Therefore, I propose the IT competency model to provide a framework for understanding managers' strategies for developing and delivering training and knowledge needed to adopt new technology and help increase the efficiency of participating organization business operations.

Operational Definitions

Information Communication and Technology (ICT): Technologies people and organizations use for information processing and communications (Zhang et al., 2008).

Nonprofit Organization (NPO): An organization that depends on volunteers as workers s and financial donors (Shehu et al., 2016). A nonprofit organization is an

organization that does not distribute surplus funds or profit to owners to further its goal or mission (Williams et al., 2013)

Organizational Effectiveness: An organization expends its resources to accomplish its mission without depleting its resources and putting undue stress on its employees and the environment (Thibodeaux & Favilla, 1995). An effective organization integrates a goal-based system and essential competencies while increasing productivity and cutting costs (Byham, 2017).

Technology acceptance model (TAM): A model that explains how technology and various aspects of it are received and used by users (Dziak, 2020).

Unified theory of acceptance and use of technology: A model that explains user intention to use an information system and subsequent usage behavior (Venkatesh, 2003).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

There are three assumptions in this study. The first assumption is that participants selected for this study were honest, sincere, helpful, and knowledgeable when answering study interview questions. The second assumption is that participants provided honest, open, and unbiased responses to interview questions. The third assumption is that this study would benefit nonprofit leaders and positively affect social change in the south suburbs of Chicago.

Limitations

Limitations are particular potential weaknesses of a study that are usually out of the researcher's control and are closely associated with the chosen research design, statistical model constraints, and funding constraints (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). There are two limitations in this study. The first limitation is that the sample size may be too small. The second limitation is some participants' responses may be biased.

Delimitations

Delimitations can be viewed as limitations consciously set by authors themselves. Delimitations are boundaries or limits of their work so that the study's aims and objectives do not become impossible to achieve (Theofanidis & Fountaouki, 2018). There are two delimitations in this study. This study involved only nonprofit organization leaders with ICT experience in the south suburb of Chicago.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

This study's findings and conclusions may be of value to business practice by demonstrating how technology plays an essential role in improving business performance, business strategies of organizations, and achieving business missions. Technology can have a positive effect on increasing productivity (Williams et al., 2013). Technology is a tool that many organizations use for developing competitive advantages (Dyer et al., 2016). It allows organizations to strive to achieve their goals efficiently. Study results may increase the efficiency of business operations and decrease costs. Improving business is essential for nonprofit organization leaders to fulfill their commitment to community members (Dobrai & Farkas, 2016).

Implications for Positive Social Change

Nonprofit organizations are social change agents (Norris, 2019). Nonprofit management education has involved developing skills necessary to lead nonprofit organizations to accomplish their missions and goals. The goal of an efficient technological environment is to provide better services more effectively. The adoption of technology can allow for increased services provided to communities. Leaders of nonprofit organizations could use this study's findings to increase both the breadth and organizational effectiveness of services for needy citizens.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative single case study is to explore strategies used by nonprofit leaders to incorporate ICT into their business operations to improve organizational efficiencies and effectiveness. This qualitative case study involved a nonprofit organization that provides services to the community in the south suburbs of Chicago. To gain an in-depth understanding of the research topic, an extensive academic literature review was conducted to understand nonprofit business operations. Topics searched in this literature review included ICT, management and technology, business operations, operational efficiency, and nonprofit organizations. The literature review begins with an exploration of IT Competency Model, which was the conceptual framework for this study. Also discussed are three alternative models: the TAM and the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) model.

Literature Review Search

To search for the literature in this study, I used Walden University Library and Google Scholar. Keywords used in the database search were: *ict, technology, nonprofit organizations, nonprofit leadership, business operation, organizational effectiveness,* and *management and technology.* Databases used were ABI/Inform, EBSCOHost, Emerald Insight, ProQuest, Scholar Works, and SAGE Journals. The literature review includes peer-reviewed articles, professional journals, dissertations, and published books. I reviewed 50 peer-reviewed articles, of which 85% were published between 2018 and 2022.

Table 1

| | Current Sources (1-5 Years) | Older Sources (Over 5 years) | Total Sources | Percent |
|------------------------|-----------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------|---------|
| Peer-reviewed journals | 53 | 10 | 63 | 97% |
| Other sources | 2 | 0 | 2 | 3% |
| Totals | 55 | 10 | 65 | 100% |

Literature Review Sources Count

IT Competency Model

The conceptual framework in this study is the IT Competency Model. The IT competency model was developed by the DOLETA, and was introduced in September 2012. The mission of DOLETA is to provide education and training to increase workplace efficiency. The purpose of the competency model, developed by McClelland, Boyatzis, Sandwith, and Bassellier et al. is to increase managers' abilities to adapt to and

understand new technologies. The IT competency model involves using technology to increase efficiency in workplace environments. This model is used to develop strategies for business professionals involving developing skills in the workplace. It is a conceptual framework that assists business managers in terms of obtaining a better understanding of concepts, assumptions, expectations, and theories related to increasing employee competencies in the workplace (Imenda, 2014). Use of technology that can increase business operations of nonprofit organizations was featured in this study.

TAM

An alternative model is the TAM. The TAM was introduced by Fred Davis in 1989. It is a theory involving predicting the likelihood of individuals or organizations successfully adopting new technology (Dziak, 2020). The model involves business owners' favorable and unfavorable attitudes towards of technology. Unfavorable acceptance of technology translates to failure of technology implementation. Davis stated that the features of new technological systems influence users' acceptance. Use of technology has assisted individuals, businesses, and organizations to perform necessary tasks more quickly, effectively, and efficiently. Technology tools and machines allowed people to increase both productivity and speed. Computers and other advanced technology have become crucial aspects of many industries (Dziak, 2020). The relationship between technology and individuals can be complex and difficult to adapt to. Many users believe that technology eliminates jobs and opportunities and therefore resist adaptation. Some users resist technology due to high costs, high-risk investments, and lack of understanding of increasing productivity. TAM factors are perceived ease of use, usefulness, and attitude toward using. Many TAM users customized the model to meet their own needs or used the original model to explain complex relationships between users and technology.

UTAUT

The UTAUT is a model that determines acceptance and use of technology. This model was completed and developed in 2012 by. Venkatesh. The UTAUT involves user intentions to use an information system and subsequent usage behavior. Presence of computer and IT in organizations has expanded dramatically. Organizations have expanded their investments in the area of information technology. Venkatesh believes for technologies to improve productivity, they must be accepted and used by employees in organizations. The UTAUT) was formulated, with four core determinants of intention and usage, and up to four moderators of key relationships. The four key moderators are gender, age, experience and willingness to use. The four core determinants are performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, and facilitating conditions (Venkatesh et al., 2003).

Venkatesh (2003) said performance expectancy is defined as the degree to which an individual believes that using the system will help him or her attain gains in terms of job performance. Effort expectancy is the degree of ease associated with use of the system. Social influence is the degree to which an individual perceives that it is important others believe that they should use the new system, and facilitating conditions involves organizational and technical infrastructures to support use of the system.

Future of Technology in the Workplace

Incorporation of technology in the workplace has resulted in job displacement. This has resulted in organizations investing in technology which leads to adapting to new processes (Newman & Gopalkrishnan, 2020). Technology has dictated changes in terms of responsibilities of employees and management. The transformative change could result in job displacement along with the retooling of employees.

AI (Artificial Intelligence) along with automation can affect employees and management decisions involving business operations. The emergence of AI is speculated to lead to transformative changes to the workplace and employees (Frey & Osborne, 2017; Illanes, 2018). AI is predicted to enable computers to analyze user experiences and preferences and apply that knowledge to perform tasks that are currently being done by people (Newman & Gopalkrishnan, 2020). AI is predicted to change or displace 47% of all occupations in the workplace (Frey & Osborne, 2017). AI is the future of technology in the workplace.

According to Dweck (2008), people have either a fixed or growth mindset in which they are willing to learn new things. If an employee has a fixed mindset, they are typically not likely to adapt to future processes (Newman & Gopalkrishnan, 2020). Organizations must determine how employees perceive the impact of innovative changes. Assessment of employee attitude will indicate actions organizations need to take and how to establish employee expectations. Organizational management, human resources, and organization development leaders have to prepare employees for technologicallychanging work environments.

General Theory of Employment, Interest, and Money

Technological advancements have occurred since the Industrial Revolution. Knowledge has displaced labor and capital as the key factor of production (Humbert, 2007). The general theory of employment of interest and money was introduced by Jon Maynard Keynes in 1936. Technological unemployment can be defined as job loss due to technological changes or adoption of technology. Technological changes include laborsaving machines such as computers or automation. Both scenarios minimize human roles. Technological advancement requires advanced training of employees. Individuals who are not technologically trained have limited or selective employment opportunities. Keynes(1936) state that full employment is important to the economy. Full employment is employment of skilled and unskilled labor within a given time (Potters, 2020). Technological unemployment makes it difficult to achieve full employment due to increased demands for skilled labor in innovative work environments.

ICT

Bobsin, et al., (2019) addressed benefits of incorporating technology into nonprofit organization business operations. Also, nonprofit organizations lack management and technical expertise to adopt some technological advances. Bobsin, et al., (2019) said nonprofit organizations are intermediaries between business and government. Nonprofit organizations have volunteers performing some day-to-day tasks. Bobsin, et al., (2019) said significant challenges that nonprofit organizations face: management of the organization and adoption of ICT. ICT is known as a benefit to organizations, but only a few organizations have efficient ICT environments. ICT plays an essential role in the operation of nonprofit organizations.

Dinesh & Given (2017) believe that technology is vital to origination's operations. Dinesh & Given (2017) focuses on the use of technological tools in nonprofit organizations. The technology tool specified in the research study assist in knowledge management activities. The non-profit organizations' use of tools and technologies for knowledge management study featured nonprofit organizations of various sizes in specifies the use of technology in the business operation of the organization. Canada and Australia. Organizations of different sizes and operating in different sectors were studied in two large-scale surveys. The result of the study is useful for practitioners of nonprofit organizations in understanding knowledge management tools and to scholars to further develop the knowledge management for nonprofit organization's domain. The problem statement. The qualitative analysis of the study indicate a number of tools, technologies and contextual details about the nature of the tools that are used.

ERP

Enterprise resource planning (ERP) is an integrated management software system. ERP systems are increasingly playing a central role in many organizations (Johansson, et al., 2016). Miranda, et al., (2016) suggest the adoption of the Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system for nonprofit organizations. Miranda, et al., (2016) believes that nonprofit adoption of an ERP system would be an innovative benefit. The researcher of the research study used a descriptive qualitative approach. The researcher conducted 17 structured interviews in gathering their data. The researcher believes that the adoption of

an ERP system would allow nonprofit organizations to achieve their objective. Enterprise Resource Planning system (ERP) is the integrated software management system that encompasses an organization's business processes. ERP all an organization to collect, store, manage and interpret data through the use of the software. ERP consists of tracking income, management of funds, and databases that maintain organizational processing records. The software of the ERP system allows for data sharing across departmental boundaries and provides the ability to connect with outside funders. ERP is a comprehensive software tool that would allow nonprofit organizations to achieve their goals. The goal of a nonprofit organization has to include decrease costs and increase efficiency. The problem statement of the research study in question emphasizes efficiency in the business operation and technology use. ERP is an organizational technological tool that features the integration of business processes. The study features the advantages of ICT to an organization. Gordon & Lopez (2019) believe in using ICT for community-based organizations. The adoption of ICT is a qualitative study. The ERP adoption research study consist of interviewing other community-based organizations. ICT for the community-based organization would be known as civic technology. Civic technology consists of social media sites and mobile technology to track and monitor civic services. The development of civic technology has vastly increased since 2012. The ERP adoption study leads to a mixed-method study of 14 organizations. Data collection consisted of semi-structured interviews and observations. The researcher works to implement technological tools in organizations and to incorporate technology into the day-to-day operation. The research study's result responded to the questions of 1) how do organizations adopt technology and maintain their mission? and 2) how do organizations maintain their relevance during this digital revolution? The response to the questions was that technology helped to pursue their mission but distract from their goal. The conclusion of the article indicated the difficulty of adopting a technological environment. CBO staff understands the advantage of technology but struggles to adapt to technology. CBO staff believes that technology would solve the problem of lack of efficiency. CBO must seek methodology to overcome the complexity of adoption and look at the effectiveness that the technological tool can achieve.

Information systems bridge the gap between technology and people. The conceptual framework of the study features management adoption of technology. Hwang (2017) states that the collaboration between nonprofit and profit organizations establishes a neighborhood information system (NIS). NIS intended to provide social, demographic, and economic information to the community. NIS is a hybrid of geographical information systems. NIS consists of a combination of efforts of foundations, universities, local government, and nonprofit organizations. Technology innovation that makes up NIB can alter the business of government. Public managers become a part of a team that is involved in mediating and negotiating policies and technology. Some scholars have indicated the need for additional study. Scholars see the development of NIS as a new governmental paradigm. Some scholars have identified key variables in the success of NIS. The collaboration of the NIS requires shared understanding and trust. The result of the study indicated a positive relationship between all parties involved in the partnership.

were supported by management. The development of NIS was successful in providing important information to the community. NIS has provided the community with more transparency. NIS is considered a paradigm of public administration. This study is a mixed-method study. The data collection efforts included a web survey, statistical analysis, and semi-structured interviews. The researcher initially identified the stakeholders of the NIS. Hwang (2017) used a survey to gather other informational needs. The last stage of the information gathering process included a meeting with project managers to validate the web survey's information.

ICT Model

The conceptual framework in this study features the information technology (IT) competency model. The goal of the DOLETA is to provide education and training to increase workplace efficiency. Manikas, et al., (2017) report a partnership between an academic researcher and a nonprofit organization. The academic researcher created a software tool to improve the efficiency of the work environment. The software tool improves the organization's transportation logistics and incorporated a lost cost software solution into the business operation. The nonprofit organization was an Idaho foodbank that transports food to various locations. The software tool created a more effective route planning process that decreases transportation time. The implementation of the software tool allows the organization to overcome some financial barriers. The academic researcher initiated the project, consisting of the interviewing two humanitarian organizations that transported food to distribution centers. After conducting interviews, the researcher creates a user's requirement list. The software system requires a data

source, a data interface, a travel matrix to collect travel time and driving directions, and a route optimizer. The system design resulted in improved vehicle routing and improved business operations. The collaboration concluded that many nonprofit organizations could benefit from low-cost technological expertise. The partnership increased the efficiency of logistics and improved business operations. The modified software reports real-time traffic and road closures. The academic researcher that can offer their time to assist nonprofit organizations would be a welcome benefit. Many nonprofit organizations have budgetary issues that would not allow for the purchase of expensive software tools.

McCully (2019) believes that ICT can improve the nonprofit organization's efficiency and effectiveness. McCully (2019) shows a relationship between information technology AI, nonprofit, and philanthropy. The author notes that information technology and AI have dramatically affected our society. The changes that dictate the advancement of technology occurring at a rapid rate. The changes that have occurred in the area of nonprofit and philanthropy are dramatic. The paradigm shifts of nonprofit, and philanthropy are due to the advancements of information technology. The topics are related due to the vast amount of information that is shared. The author explains that researchers have not given the topic as much attention as it deserves. Social scientists had little interest in the relationship between information technology and nonprofit. Researchers consider the topic of nonprofit and philanthropy as one topic. In 2006, an organization was formed called Association for Research on Nonprofit Organizations and Voluntary Action (ARNOVA). ARNOVA was formed to expand on the research in the area of nonprofit management, education, community service, voluntary action, and

philanthropic studies. ANOVA allows for an academic-practitioner relationship to be established. The advancements in information technology have given nonprofit organization tools to improve their operations and donor relations. The process of fundraising has been introduced and transformed by social media. The creation of online technology has increased the fundraising of organizations. The article concludes by stating that the relationship between academia and philanthropy has dramatically improved. Social scientists are looking at the topic of IT and philanthropy as a future research topic.

Young (2018) discusses the relationship between technology and future nonprofit professionals. Young's article expresses the utilization of technology and how technology is incorporated into educational courses. Technology is a tool that is used to distribute and display information. Future nonprofit professionals must obtain the skills and knowledge to be a part of this technological society. Academic courses that are nontechnical use technology to deliver course content. The process of using technology allows students to become more comfortable more digitally literate. Nonprofit organizations are using technology to provide services. Social media has become a part of the nonprofit organization's presence. Current nonprofit leaders were not trained in the area of technology. Future nonprofit leaders can benefit from modified curriculums that offer technology classes and technical course content or non-technical classes. Educators are challenged to use online coursework and social media in their curriculums to enhance the technical knowledge of their students. Educators are forced to alter their teaching methods to account for the technological incorporated curriculum. The article concludes by stating that educators have the responsibility of educating current and future nonprofit professionals. The educator can alter the perceptions and behavior of nonprofit professionals. The technological world is becoming more complex. Nonprofit organizations must continue to advance technologically. Nonprofit organizations must rely on digital technology to be effective in this technological society. Education and training will allow for individuals to be more engaging, innovative, and strategic in the future.

Bobsin, et al (2019) believes that incorporating technology will benefit the business operations of a nonprofit organization. Raman (2016) explains the curiosity of academicians and nonprofit practitioners on the effects of ICT on nonprofit organizations. Technology is defined as social media, mobility, analytics, and cloud computing (SMAC) Manager of nonprofit understand that technology can assist them in meeting the organizations' mission. The researcher of the study analyzes managers of nonprofits' attitude towards the use of technology. The research used a mixed-method research design. The quantitative and qualitative tools were used to investigate the SMAC adoption. The author believes that ICT has made a tremendous social impact. The technology has transformed organizations and improved nonprofit organizations. The author states that ICT contributes positively to society. SMAC has been known to contribute towards social service sectors such as health, education, and digital divide initiative. The researcher is interested in determining what factors are considered when adopting recent ICT and the contribution to the nonprofit organization. Nonprofits are obtaining new ICT tools to assist with fundraising, volunteer activities, and marketing

efforts. The simpler and less expensive version of new ICT tools has been purchased by some nonprofit organizations. The researchers have investigated the organizational effectiveness of adopting new technology. The researcher is interested in determining if adopting the technology assist in the mission of the organization. The conclusion of the study resulted in the adoption of SMAC indicated a positive outcome such as organizational effectiveness and bridging the gap of the digital divide. The adoption of new ICT was based on performance expectancy and attitude to use. Nonprofit leadership expects the adoption would increase the efficiency of the organization. The study indicated that SMAC increased organizational effectiveness. The technology assists in donor management, recruiting of training volunteers, and management reporting. Researchers stated that the adoption of SMAC would be worth the investment.

The purpose of the competency model, developed by McClelland (1973), Boyatzis (1982), Sandwith (1993), and Bassellier et al. (2001), is to increase the manager's ability to understand and adapt to new technologies. Kisonzo (2017) reported that ICT (Information Communication and Technology) improve organization performance. Management of nonprofit organizations has a difficult time justifying the investment in ICT tools. The goal of SMAC is to establish a correlation between ICT investment, organizational performance, and the decision-making process. Kisonzo initiated a quantitative study that attempted to explain the interdependence of the predictor and outcome variables. Data was collected using measurement instruments and SPSS software to analyze the results. The results of the study revealed that it wasn't a direct correlation between ICT and organization performance. Bassellier et al. (2001),

believes SMAC will dictate a positive social change. SMAC is intended to educate nonprofit leaders on the investment of ICT. The research question involves the effectiveness and efficiency of the business operation of the nonprofit organization with the adoption of ICT. Zilic (2020) suggests that technical implementation and digital transformation increase the efficiency of a business model. The re-evaluation and implementation of ICT are required to keep up with the demands of dynamic markets. Zilic researched a shared service business model that was using ICT to create a more efficient environment. The efficiency of the business model requires organizational and technological changes. The articles outline the shared service business model and the benefit of implementing an ICT system. The conclusion of the research study resulted in the reporting of optimization, consolidation, standardization, and efficiency of the business model. ICT technology is essentially an efficient shared service model and to compete in the market of the business organization. Various service industries such as telecom, educational, public administration, and technology companies were the service industries in the study. The study concludes that ICT would increase efficiency and improve the business model of the shared service industry.

Technology Advancement

Technology advancement constitutes the knowledge that increases technology. Suryanegara et.al, (2019) reported that the role of technology is to comply to the demand of the market or to create a market through innovation. These roles of technology mark the first- and second-generation innovation models that drastically changed the world in the twentieth century. One example is the rapid development of Information Communication Technology (ICT). ICT began with the development of technology to deliver voice communication. ICT described as a technological process that delivers information over sort of communications technology. The crucial point of the development of ICT was the emergence of the Internet. The advancement of ICT technology created the efficiency of industrial processes that is necessity pursued by every business entity. ICT technology enables industrial process efficiency and strengthens the competitiveness of products. In the article, Information Communication and Technology (ICT) as the Engine of Innovation in the Co-Evolution Mechanism, consist of fifteen papers dedicated to promoting ICT research that directly and indirectly contributes to innovation was presented. The studies of ICT in this document concluded that the research work would shape technological innovation and competitiveness.

Cybersecurity

Roman of FoxPointe Solution information technology developed ten recommendations for mitigating the risk of cybersecurity breaches. Nonprofit organizations collect private data and operational records. Nonprofit organizations typically do not place importance on data protection. Cybersecurity is an expendable expense during these times of reduced budgets, decreased donation, and inconsistent governmental funding. The recommendation for nonprofit organizations is to pick up Windows security patches, enable anti-malware software and firewalls, encrypt data and strengthen user passwords. Archibald (2020) said management should supply training for nonprofit employees in cyber security awareness. I examined the effects of ICT on sales and employment of small and medium organizations from 2009-2013. The organization's study performed production functions such as producing output from the input of raw materials, incorporating labor, and generating capital. The research used the Cobb-Douglas model to categorize the operations of the organizations. The study indicated that hardware investments complemented labor by increasing organizational performance, and software and ICT staff investment decreased labor. The results of the study show that ICT investment affects employment in smaller organizations. The study resulted in assisting managers in responding to the challenges of ICT investment or employment. The researcher indicated that the study provided a framework for analyzing ICT investment and employment strategic significance.

The competency model featured in the conceptual framework indicates the importance of educating and training managers in technology. Increasing managers knowledge and understanding of technology will increase the acceptance of innovation. Zhang & Feeney (2020) reports that ICT (Information, Communication Technology) has many advantages and possibility in civic engagement and governmental agencies but have had limited success. The cybersecurity study revealed that the organizational culture that prioritized bureaucracy over participatory failed to implement ICT. Legal mandates in governmental agencies increase the adoption of ICT but not use it for participation. The study findings show the critical role of organizational culture in adopting of ICT and those legal mandates promote adaptation success. The cybersecurity study results indicated prioritizing bureaucracy over participatory culture is negatively affected by the
adoption of ICT. Bureaucracy-oriented departments tend to view the adoption of ICT as interfering with their pursuit of efficiency and effectiveness and are less likely to adopt them. Participatory organizations are more likely to adopt ICT for participation purposes. Researchers found no significant difference in organizational culture and using technologies for efficiency and effectiveness purposes. Archibald (2020) feels that bureaucracy- oriented departments using data sharing and work collaboration tools to achieve effectiveness and efficiency did not adopt ICT. The cybersecurity study results indicated that a bureaucracy-oriented government to increase ICT adoption when formally required to engage the public in decision-making was successful in their adaptation.

Antonioli et al. (2018) stated that ICT and environmental innovation (EI) are relevant waves of the ongoing technological revolution. Antonioli et al. (2018) said the higher the diffusion and intensity of ICT usage and EI, the higher a firm's productivity performance might be. The testing of the hypothesis consisted of a data survey from manufacturing firms in Northeast Italy. The research survey included detailed information on both ICT and EI. Antonioli, et al., (2018) study results indicates that the adoption of one innovative technology has no significant economic performance impact. The adoption of both technological innovations increases productivity and financial performance. The results of the study supports the hypothesis of the study.

Olubunmi & Samuel (2017) present a study that examines the use of communication technology in broadcasting. The case study focuses on the cost, effectiveness, and impact of ICT on the social relationship between the broadcast advertising of different hierarchies. The survey method was used to obtain data from the subject. A structured questionnaire was used to collect both qualitative and quantitative data. A purposive sampling technique was adopted to get respondents that are directly involved in advertising, from the organization of the study. The results of the case study indicates that broadcast advertising increase business with the use of appropriate ICT facilities.

The addition of ICT is a positive component of an organization. Wu, et al. (2020) explain the impact e-commerce had on a poor, remote village in China. The case study consist of three small villages in China and how ICT (specifically e-commerce) is used to develop a rural e-commerce system. The document described the challenges encountered in creating an e-commerce system to supply three villages with some essential items. ICT has allowed villagers to generate business opportunities via online stores. Online stores generated an income of 2.44 million. ICT allowed villagers to improve healthcare and increase educational levels. ICT provided individuals of the villages to communicate with others and participate in social activities to enhance their well-being.

ICT involves the knowledge and sharing of information via technology. Sinaeepourfard, et al., (2020) reports that information communication and technology consist of Internet of Things (IoT) devices, computing platforms, and data storage media. Many smart cities are ICT resources to collect data. Data management systems provide users resources and businesses with information. The article outlines two methods of using ICT to create management solutions for modern cities that depend on ICT. Many cities are starting to use ICT strategies to provide facility management services, city planners with data, and technological devices to enhance citizen's engagements. Data management is an essential element of ICT management strategy. The concepts of centralized and distributed-to-centralized data management (D2CDM) architectures organized data acquisition in networks. Using ICT for smart cities was increased services, optimized data collection, quality data storage, and combined software services. The conclusion of the study increases the possibilities for the future development of smart city ICT technology systems.

Covid-19 has caused an increase in technology in areas of work, education, and play. Abdillah, et al., (2020) reported using ICT during this era of the Covid-19 pandemic. Covid-19 pandemic marks a period of using online media for work, play, and learning. This article features a learning environment and counseling services. School Counselors are using ICT to provide learning and counseling services to students. A quantitative research design is used for this study. A structural equation modeling tool was used to test the correlations between the variables. The study consists of 214 school counselors and the data collection tool of an online questionnaire. The study results showed findings in which all attributes have a significant outcome on the use of ICT on School Counselor. The study results indicated a positive response to providing learning and counseling service during the Covid-19 pandemic. The results have led to the increasing use of ICT.

The competence model supplies managers with technology training and education. Infante-Moro, et al., (2021) report on a study that consists of the acquisition of ICT skills. ICT skills benefit student in the training programs of the educational institution. This study attempted to analyze the students' ICT skills in Business Sciences and Tourism of the University of Huelva. ICT skills are noted as most demanded by potential employers. The research study uses the data gathering tool of a survey questionnaire. Forty-six college professors performed the study. The study intends to promote and increase the ICT skills of students to provide better career opportunities. Also, the study is intended to measure the commitment of the professors to teaching ICT skills. The result of the study indicated that ICT skills play an essential role in the training programs of educational institutions. The results suggest that students receive the necessary training need for future employment opportunities. Also, professors are committed to the importance of ICT skill training.

Disruptive technology is known for altering business operations. Disruptive technology includes mobile devices. Mobile payment allows any mobile device user to conduct commercial transactions without the use of cash or credit cards (Schmidthuber, et al., 2020). Mobile phone payment is a disruptive technology that, despite its many advantages, has not been widely adopted. This study investigates the hesitancy to accept mobile device technology. The mobile technology used in this study was mobile payment. According to the study's findings, perceived usefulness, perceived compatibility, perceived personal innovativeness, and perceived social influence all positively influence the intention to use mobile payment services, while perceived risk has a negative impact (Schmidthuber, et al., 2020). We build on the well-established theoretical framework of the technology acceptance model to shed light on the factors that influence individuals' intention to use mobile payment (Schmidthuber, et al., 2020).

A survey of 670 people was used to test the technology acceptance model. According to the survey, user perceptions. The study's findings contribute to a better understanding of technology and disruptive technology. Understanding of technology influenced technology acceptance positively. The proposed study's conceptual framework is management increased technology acceptance through education and training.

Cloudiary is a media management company that provides services to nonprofit organizations. Cloudinary for Nonprofits offers eligible organizations discounted access to Cloudinary's award-winning image, video, and digital asset management solutions, allowing them to easily create, manage, and distribute content that supports their mission (Cloudinary,2020). Cloudinary's management believes that nonprofit organizations are dedicated to addressing social issues, and that as a company, we are assisting them in their efforts. Reaching the intended audience is critical, and media technology can help. Nonprofits, like any other brand or business, use images and video to build and improve user engagement (Cloudinary,2020). Cloudinary is dedicated to providing organized and engaging technology to nonprofit organizations. The service is provided in a timely and cost-effective manner. The proposed study's research question focuses on the incorporation of ICT into business operations in order to improve organizational effectiveness and efficiency.

Nonprofit Organizations and Leadership

Social media, mobile technology, and cloud computing are popular technological advancements in today's society. According to Boles (2019), the use of technology will improve the efficiency of nonprofit organizations and social workers' operations. The use

of technology will improve a nonprofit organization's operational workflow. Social media, mobile technology, and cloud computing will improve a nonprofit organization's services and operations. According to Boles (2019), many nonprofit organizations use technology, but increased knowledge and innovation would reduce costs and increase funding. The final section of the article discusses the potential technological barriers that many nonprofit organizations may face. The report's conclusion stated that technology increases a nonprofit organization's chances of success. The organization could use technology to provide services to funders, social workers, and fundraisers. Furthermore, by incorporating technological services, the organization has the potential to reach out to more funders and increase its contributions. This article's topic corresponds to the research questions of my research study. The specific business issue is that nonprofit leaders lack a strategy for incorporating technology into the organization's business operations.

A nonprofit corporation is an organization that exists for reasons other than profit. Gunawan and colleagues (2017). Nonprofit organizations are formed in response to an economic or social need. Any nonprofit organization's mission is to provide services and financial support to a cause. Gunawan and colleagues (2017). Every nonprofit faces the challenge of raising funds to support their initiative and operations. A nonprofit must make every effort to keep donors and project funding. The article's author discusses the significance of a web-based system for tracking donors and organizational projects. Earned Value Analysis is the name of the web-based system (EVA). The Earned Value Analysis system was created to aid in project management. The system keeps track of project status and assists management in making decisions. The web-based system's implementation displays project progress and financial requirements. Nonprofits must sometimes make the same decisions as for-profit institutions. The web-system assists the organization in reducing financial risk and making sound financial decisions. The EVA system's implementation increased donor trust. The organization can provide precise financial data to donors while also allowing the organization's management to address the organization's needs. Social media is an ICT component that will increase the organization's visibility and efficiency.

A computer system process data into information. Analysis is the process of breaking down a complex process into elements. Switzer, C. (2017). discuss the topic of a nonprofit organization that has adopted a computer system and its development analysis process. Typically, the process is to hire a computer contractor, and tell them what you want the system to do. The computer contractors deliver what they think the manager have requested. The process typically does not match what was requested, and the organization must deal with the inefficiencies until a recreated system is developed. The author of the article discusses the process that several organizations have adopted. The adopted strategy is called product management. Product management is a system that allows for frequent changes. The strategy used to create the system combine management with software development. The technical principle is called agile. A team of developers would determine what would best serve the individuals that use the technology and create it using limited resources. The product management approach worked well for nonprofit organizations with limited resources for technology. The expense of adopting a new system traditionally would cause the organization to sacrifice some other organizational needs. The nonprofit organization that adopts the product management system invests money into a system that allows for continuous changes and better performance.

Many non-profit organizations collaborate on projects. Nonprofit organizations compete with one another for funds and constituents. Bloch and colleagues (2020) discuss the interdependence of nonprofit organizations. A board interlock occurs when a member of one organization's board joins the board of another. The connection between nonprofit organizations enables the exchange of information, knowledge, and practices. According to academic research on for-profit entities, interlocks are a deliberate strategic choice made by organizations (Hallock 1997). When organizations form bonds, they share policies, governance, and organizational efficiency. The sample data came from 3,000 nonprofit organizations from various industries in the Washington, DC metropolitan area. The study resulted in increased efficiency and donations. Adoption of ICT and increased efficiency may distinguish nonprofit organizations.

One of the types of nonprofit organization promotes health care for individuals who need health care information. Nonprofit organizations have used advertising campaigns but have found little success. The lack of success with the advertising campaigns can be attributed to challenges with disseminating information to the appropriate target group, often because the target audience is not easily identifiable *(Bloom, et al., (2020) states that that social media could be used to solve the problem ICT*, through the use of social media, have created a means for meeting the challenge of engaging individuals that would benefit from this information. Nonprofit organizations increasingly rely on social media to effectively design health promotion strategies (Chou, et al., 2009). Vedel, et al., (2020) said nonprofit organizations developed their social media strategies and how nonprofit organization attain their health care promotion goals. The information obtained during the study was intended to impact of the health care promotion and assist other organizations with the same goal. Nonprofit organizations that have implemented a social media strategy address their health care promotion goals have found it beneficial in achieving their organizational mission.

Nonprofits have initiatives, a mission, and goals. Wieters et al. (2020) believe that program evaluations are an important indicator of whether a nonprofit is effectively meeting the needs of its clients or members. Nonprofit organizations that have received grant funds have met the grant provider's requirements. The evaluation of programs offered is a barometer of the organization's success and shortcomings. Evaluation data is used by organizational leaders to determine organizational effectiveness. There are various types of program evaluations. The evaluation is a feature of the evaluation program. The 360-degree program includes tools and techniques that produce data, both internally and externally collected, that is intended to determine the effectiveness of program strategy and leadership. According to Wieters et al. (2020), the following questions are used to evaluate the organization:

How does the program align with our mission, vision, values, and the specific grant requirements for funding the program?

How can we ensure that our program provides high-quality services to our clients? What works and what doesn't in the program?

Are there any issues or gaps in our programs that need to be addressed? Are the right people doing the right things?

What outside research exists that has an impact on the program?

Is our strategic plan demonstrating the program's current and future needs? The use of ICT is required to respond to the questions and collect the data needed for the evaluation.

Boop & Voida (2020) reports Human Computer Interaction (HCI) has been linked to nonprofit organizations for several years. NAME OF AUTHOR (YEAR) said the field of HCI has the opportunity to be productively and ethically engage in the development of nonprofit stakeholders. HCI researchers have focused on a suite of questions concerning nonprofit organizations and stakeholder's voice. By voice in research, it means the degree of power and agency that stakeholders have in providing input into research (Boop & Voida, 2020). The questions centered are stakeholder involvement are acknowledgment of the importance of stakeholders, invitation to be a research participant, affecting the style of methodological engagement, and have an authentic voice in the eyes of the researcher. HCI researcher believes that stakeholders should have input in the area of information technology. ICT incorporation in nonprofit organizations improves stakeholder involvement.

Social media is a type of technology that allows people to share information and ideas with one another. According to Goldkind (2015), social media has become

ubiquitous in everyday life and a part of many organizational cultures and communications plans for nonprofit organizations that have adopted technology. This qualitative study investigated the use of social media and other communication tools within nonprofit human service organizations. The research questions were as follows: What is the prevalence of social media use in nonprofit organizational settings? What support structures encourage social media use, and what institutional barriers prevent it in the workplace? The interviews yielded four topics: social media supports, social media resources, technological barriers, and experiential use of social media. The study's conclusion resulted in nonprofit leaders and executives gaining knowledge and training on social media tools. The study's participants were surprised by their lack of knowledge about social media and the effects of using technological tools. The researcher believes that more research is required. This article closely reflects the research study's problem statement. The research question is whether nonprofit leaders have the necessary expertise to integrate ICT into business operations. ICT includes social media.

The Comparative Nonprofit Sector Project is managed by John Hopkins University. The undertaking. According to the project findings, 1) the nonprofit sector is the world's seventh-largest economy, 2) the nonprofit industry is as large as the global construction industry, 3) in the United States, 22% of the population volunteers their time, and 4) 10% of Americans work in the nonprofit sector. Nonprofit management accountants adhere to best practices in accounting, finance, and governance. Technology and its users play an important role in this effort, and management accountants can assist nonprofit organizations in ensuring that these tools are used correctly and that established best practices are followed (Maguire, 2016). Understanding how nonprofit organizations use technology aids in implementing best practices. The annual "Blackbaud State of the Nonprofit Industry Survey" polls nonprofits around the world on their use of technology and the Internet. The survey received responses from over 2,000 nonprofit organizations in ten countries (Maguire, 2016). The survey respondents reported a significant disparity between the importance of a single database of supporter information, using technology, and the performance of their own organization in achieving that goal. ICT can be used to bridge the gap in business operations, organizational efficiency, and achieving the mission goals of a nonprofit organization.

A nonprofit organization's chief financial officer faces numerous important responsibilities and challenges. West & Ries (2017) discuss the role of the chief financial officer in a nonprofit organization. A nonprofit organization's CFO is responsible for balancing strategy and operations, funding and financial sustainability, communication, leadership, governance, people management, information technology, compliance, regulations, and unfunded mandates, and mitigating and managing risk, including reputational risk (West & Ries, 2017). The CFO must be familiar with the organization's mission and funding programs. Program funds are required to keep the organization's operations running. The organization's CFO is in charge of employee benefits, human resources, and information technology. The NPO CFO's role is to be a strategist and to keep the organization's mission relevant.

The board of governance plays an important role in the existence and administration of a nonprofit organization. According to Tysiac (2018), the success of a nonprofit organization is dependent on the recruitment, retention, and training of its governance. Many nonprofit organizations struggle to find knowledgeable, engaged board members. Board members must be trained on how to fulfill their oversight role, educate on their responsibilities, and contribute to the strategic planning process. A nonprofit organization's other task is to find friend raisers or friends of fundraisers. Many non-profit organizations hold events to present their mission and vision. Nonprofit organizations are always looking for new funders and board members. Because of the, it is difficult to find board members.

Nonprofit organizations are formed to address a societal need. Tyler (2018) reported on the complexity of the non-profit environment in his paper "Nonprofit Leaders' Perceptions of Leadership Development and Leadership Competences." According to research, many non-profit leaders are unfamiliar with non-profit leadership and practices. The qualitative phenomenological study aims to improve understanding of nonprofit leader practices. In addition, the research study demonstrated how nonprofit leaders develop the competencies necessary to effectively lead their organizations. The goal of the qualitative phenomenological study was to investigate the competencies needed by nonprofit leaders and to transfer competence in training and later practice. According to the research study, the key competencies of the nonprofit executive are: emotional quotient, communications skill, relationship building, financial, strategic planning, human resources, and fundraising. The study's findings indicate that non-profit leaders need a broad, multifaceted skill set to succeed in the complex environment in which NPOs operate. The qualitative phenomenological research concluded with a better understanding of the competencies of nonprofit leaders and how to improve those skills through leadership development programs. Leaders' lack of skill extends to incorporating ICT into the nonprofit organization's business operations.

Technological advancements are progressive and innovative. Several nonprofit organizations have taken a forward-thinking approach to technology. Product management is a technology philosophy used by nonprofit leaders. The product management philosophy regards technology as a living thing that is constantly changing and necessitates constant maintenance (Switzer, 2017). The product management philosophy is made up of software development principles that determine what is best for technology users. Product management principles are implemented by engineers and software designers. A product manager determines what is most important and what will work best for the organization. Product managers are in charge of overseeing how various parts of the organization collaborate on a set of technologies (Switzer, 2017). This method enables a nonprofit organization to implement strategic technological processes and continuously improve its business operations. This study's research question revolves around the incorporation of ICT to improve business operations.

Nonprofit organizations use social media as a communication tool. Ihm (2019) investigated nonprofit organizations' (NPOs') social media strategies. Many nonprofit organizations use social media to strengthen stakeholder relationships and communication. Stakeholders can communicate with one another using social media to build relationships and mutual interest. The study focuses on different types of nonprofit organizations and how they use social media. The study's findings in the examination of each type of relationship that resulted in an autonomous network. According to the study, various networks are embedded in social media websites. The study's findings improved understanding of NPO virtual communities, which translated into transformative collective actions, social change, and collaboration with mutually imitative organizations. Social media is an example of ICT. The ICT strategy of nonprofit organizations is the focus of the research study.

Nonprofit organizations rely heavily on fundraising. The success of crowdfunding fundraising campaigns was investigated by Salido-Andres et al. (2018). Beneficiaries are the focus of the crowdfunding campaigns. Digital platforms were used to promote the crowdfunding efforts. The promotion consisted of three parts: 1) an examination and review of the literature used to influence the volume of potential beneficiaries. 2) Hypotheses are proposed linking the determinants identified in the literature to the crowdfunding campaigns, and 3) quantitative analysis is used to assess the explanatory capacity. According to the study's findings, crowdfunding campaigns for charitable causes promoted through digital platforms were successful. The use of a digital platform reflects the use of information and communication technology in nonprofit organizations. This study focuses on the use of ICT in nonprofit business operations.

Nonprofit organizations must create an operational strategy. Tenney and Sheikh (2019) define Strategic Roadmap (SRM). A strategic roadmap is a plan for developing a long-term strategy for a company. As part of a long-term plan, a strategic roadmap can include operational and procedural components. The strategic roadmap includes trends for nonprofit organizations as well as operational plans for nonprofit management and

planning methodologies. According to Tenney and Sheikh (2019), nonprofit organizations face some strategic challenges. Some nonprofit organizations are inefficient in terms of management and operations. The article's authors believe that developing a strategic roadmap would benefit many small-to-medium nonprofit organizations. Nonprofit organizations are growing in number as a result of a societal need. Nonprofit organizations provide critical services to many communities. Nonprofit organizations are funded in a variety of ways. The management of organizational income is critical to the organization's survival. A strategic roadmap is a tool that can be used to improve operational and managerial efficiency. The research study's problem statement emphasizes how a lack of managerial strategic planning and skills negatively impacts business operations. The study emphasizes how technology can improve operational efficiency.

Management consulting services have aided organizations in keeping up with industries' rapid growth. The management consulting industry is highly competitive. Management consulting firms that meet the challenges of automation, democratization of information, big data, and scarcity of resources gain a competitive advantage. The goal of this research is to look into how organizations used agility and flexibility to reinvent their business models in order to adapt to a rapidly changing technological society. The researcher interviewed several management personnel from a large consulting firm in Portugal. According to the study's findings, organizations try to differentiate the services they offer and deliver. Consulting services must adapt to a business model that allows for digital migration. The use of ICT accelerates digital transformation.Social media has been used as a tool by successful nonprofit organizations. Milde & Yawson, (2017) detail the social media engagement of successful nonprofits and developing recommendations for effective social media plans to increase the visibility and service areas of public service organizations. The successful nonprofits imitated public service activities tying online effort to the mission of the organization. The nonprofit incorporated the social media existence with the mission of the organization. Maintaining an active presence online is and will continue to be an essential component of marketing and communications strategy (Worth, 2013). Marketing and communication is essential for nonprofit that depends on public funds social media use has a positive relationship with engagement and its three sub-categories, that is, social capital, civic engagement, and political participation (Skoric, Zhu, Goh, & Pang, 2015). The conclusion of the study indicates that the success of the incorporation of social media included those goals and strategy of the organization. Social media is a part of ICT and organizational effectiveness and efficiency.

Operational Effectiveness

Organizational effectiveness is sometimes linked to information systems. The research looks into the impact of blockchain technology and information systems on the effectiveness of organizational learning. Block chain technology is a digital ledger of transactions that is duplicated and distributed across the entire computer network. Turi et al. (2020) investigated the impact of information systems and blockchain technology on the effectiveness of organizational learning. Blockchain technology is a system for recording transactions. The study included data collection from information system

faculty and staff at Pakistani universities via interviews. The information gathered consisted of documented resistance to the organizational learning process in order to improve effectiveness. This study employed a qualitative approach. According to the study's findings, senior faculty members' support is critical in the acceptance of an implemented information system. In this study, both universities implemented an information system and a block chain to improve organizational learning effectiveness and organizational development and to envision their knowledge workers being more productive and efficient (Turi, et al., 2020). The study's findings include a recommendation for further research into the use of blockchain technology for organizational learning effectiveness and development. According to the study, blockchain technology can be used in the learning and management systems, as well as decision-making processes. The use of technology to improve organizational effectiveness corresponds to the study's research question, which states that incorporating ICT into business operations improves organizational effectiveness.

Many of the nonprofit organization's employees believe in the organization's initiative. Mendoza-Walters and Ivanov (2016) published an article that discussed Jacque's' theory. Jacque's theory is directly related to organizational structure. Jacque's theory considers the time it takes an employee to complete the longest task and uses it as a proxy. The collected data is used to improve the institute's organizational efficiency. Jaques philosophy strives to create the best organizational structure possible. Organizations that adhere to this optimal organizational structure have the highest productivity, morale, and overall employee satisfaction (Mendoza-Walters & Ivanov,2016). Optimal organizational structure translates into organizational efficiency, which improves business operations.

Many organizations use innovation to become more efficient. Innovation is generally defined as the generation (development) or adoption (use) of new ideas, objects or practices (Amabile, 1988; O'Toole, 1997; Rogers, 1995). Chowdhury, et al., (2020) perform a study that featured radical human resource innovative changes to increase organizational effectiveness. The study consisted of thirty organization from various industries. The innovative tools that were implemented included Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP), TOPSIS and Hierarchical Regression analysis. Radical HR Innovation is a complete change, the outcome of which is new to the organization resulting in organizational effectiveness (Seng et al, 2011). Innovation is a process that constituent initiation, adoption and implementation. Innovation initiation is an introduction to the process, Innovation adoption is the acceptance of the idea of innovating a process. Innovation acceptance includes acceptance by the users that will be using the innovative tool. Organizational effectiveness can be evaluated by assessing the current state after the implementation of the innovation. Innovation is effective when it consists of process improvements. Seng et al., (2011 analyzed the relationship between innovation and organizational effectiveness. The study results acknowledge a positive relationship between innovation and organizational effectiveness. The findings suggest that process and radical human resources innovations influenced organizational effectiveness significantly (Chowdhury, et al., 2020). The research question of my study states that the incorporation of ICT into the business operation improve organizational effectiveness.

Many competitive environments look to technology to stay competitive and to become more efficient. Innovation is a central feature of competition and firms possessing technological capabilities create innovations through successfully implementing new techniques (Chen, et al., 2014; Prajogo, 2016). Technological capabilities facilitate the improved products and services to the market (Chang, et al., 2012). Bustinza, et al., (2019) believes that technology capabilities and resilience capabilities lead to organizational effectiveness. Technology capabilities allows for an organization to meet the challenges of the industry. Resilience capabilities is an organization ability to respond to change and uncertain conditions. The conclusion of the study results in an increased understanding of the relationship between technological and resilience capabilities and how it leads to organizational effectiveness. The incorporation of technology lead to organizational effectiveness.

A high-performance work system and a quality management system are conceptual tools for increasing organizational effectiveness. Some manufacturing and service organizations have used one or both concepts to improve organizational effectiveness. This study focuses on the relationship between quality management system and high-performance work system concepts that affect organizational effectiveness directly and/or indirectly. The study's researcher proposes combining the two conceptual concepts of quality management system and high-performance work system. The study's findings make three significant contributions: 1) Combining the concepts' implementation gives organizations confidence in using both the quality management system and highperformance work system practices. 2) Quality management system practices can be used at the top-level and core of an organization, and 3) the combination of quality management system and high-performance work system at the core level is related to quality management system top-level practices and organizational effectiveness. The study's findings, supported by the use of structural equation modeling, indicate that an integrated framework of the two concepts would improve organizational effectiveness. This study focuses on the use of comparative analysis to improve organizational performance by facilitating knowledge sharing and improving business processes.

The tools that are used to improve organizational business performance through knowledge sharing and innovation. The study investigates critical operational factors and employs comparative analysis to examine the relationship between knowledge sharing, business processes, and organizational performance. There are 28 cases in the collection process. The study's findings revealed that knowledge sharing and the businessknowledge process significantly contributed to organizational performance improvement. According to the research question, technology can improve business operations and organizational effectiveness.

Many businesses strive for organizational effectiveness. Despite rising travel demand, the hospitality industry is in flux in an era of industry disruption via innovative business models (Manoharan & Singal, 2019). Given that the goal of most business organizations is to maintain a competitive advantage, competitive advantages can be harmful to firms that are struggling to survive in a competitive industry. Organizational effectiveness can be defined as the achievement of goals outlined in the mission or vision statement of the organization (Manoharan & Singal, 2019). Previously, approaches to organizational effectiveness included goal attainment, system resource procurement, and internal process alignment (Manoharan & Singal, 2019). Although academics have used organizational performance as a proxy for organizational effectiveness, the two concepts are distinct. Performance studies often focus on a single aspect of effectiveness, such as innovative performance, service performance, brand performance, financial performance, or sales performance (Nazarian et al., 2017). The research study focuses on the role of innovation in organizational effectiveness.

The measurement of organizational effectiveness in the healthcare supply chain industry is the focus of this research study. The system theory was used in the study, along with the Supplier-Input-Process-Output-Customer tool. The system tools were used in a variety of health-care supply chains. The researcher used an exploratory approach to investigate and quantify the significance of various organizational effectiveness factors at various nodes of the healthcare supply chain. A two-stage questionnaire process was used to collect data from personnel in the UAE's healthcare sector (Hussain, et al., 2020). Sixty-two organizational factors were identified in the research study. The healthcare chain was studied using the Supplier-Input-Process-Output-Customer structure, with a qualitative approach to measuring organizational effectiveness of healthcare organizations. The study is thought to be useful for healthcare professionals seeking organizational effectiveness. The research question focuses on the application of technology to improve organizational effectiveness.

E-government is the use of ICT to conduct government business. This study looks at the e-government procurement system, stakeholders, and performance metrics. The study includes stakeholder identification and performance metrics. There were five internal stakeholder groups identified: From stakeholders' perceptions, eight measures and 44 corresponding metrics were consolidated, and 21 significantly distinct performance metrics were identified (Chomchaiya & Esichaikul, 2016). The overall recategorized e-GP internal stakeholders were discovered, and a distinction between "user" and "service support staff" was made based on their various roles and responsibilities, as well as their perception of the importance of e-GP performance (Chomchaiya & Esichaikul, 2016). According to the study's findings, management and auditors can be assigned transparency and effectiveness measures, while service support staff and service users can be assigned contract management and efficiency measures. The use of technology assesses the effectiveness of the e-government system. The value placed on metrics and measures reflects the desire for e-GP success based on mimetic forces (Chomchaiya & Esichaikul, 2016).

Technology tools aid in the creation of an efficient organizational environment. A high-performance work system and a quality management system are conceptual tools for increasing organizational effectiveness. Some manufacturing and service organizations have used one or both concepts to improve organizational effectiveness. This study focuses on the relationship between quality management system and high-performance work system concepts that affect organizational effectiveness directly and/or indirectly. The study's researcher proposes combining the two conceptual concepts of quality

management system and high-performance work system. The study's findings make three significant contributions. The contributions were the implementation of concepts that give organizations confidence in using both quality management system and highperformance work system practices, the quality management system practice that can be used at the top-level and core of an organization, and the quality management system and high-performance work system at the core level of practices and organizational effectiveness. The study's findings, supported by the use of structural equation modeling, indicate that an integrated framework of the two concepts would improve organizational effectiveness. This study focuses on the use of comparative analysis to improve productivity by facilitating knowledge sharing and improving business processes.

Management and Technology

ICT is becoming more widely used as a necessary tool. ICT demands were calculated using a six-item scale based on responses to various questions. The questions were graded on a scale of 1 (extremely high) to 5 (extremely low) (no use of email or computer in my job). The study found that the highest prevalence of ICT demands varied by industry managers, non-managers, and educational levels. Managers in community service, education, and healthcare have a 95 percent confidence rating (Stadin, et al., 2012). According to the researcher, many managers have increased their exposure to ICT tools. The study's conclusion resulted in managers seeking ICT to improve the work environment. The IT competency model was developed by the Department of Labor Education and Training in order to increase managers, IT training, education, and acceptance.

Managers in various industries are turning to innovation to solve problems. Lousa and Gomes (2017) investigated the impact of technology on organizations during this period of rapid innovation. The study evaluates the technological impact on organizations, taking organizational size and age into account. According to the researchers, an organization's technological influence is determined by its size, age, and innovative perspective. The exploratory study was conducted with Portuguese firms. According to the study, employees in older and larger companies were older and had more seniority. The organization is less innovative and learning oriented as employees get older. The study's findings did not indicate that the size of the company or training activities played a role. According to the study's findings, small businesses with managers who participate in training are more willing to innovate. Larger companies with managers who participate in training activities are more likely to innovate in their processes (McGuirk, et al., 2015). The IT competency model serves as the study's conceptual framework. The model's goal is to improve managers' technology training and understanding.

NPOs are non-profit organizations with the mission of improving society in some way, often by addressing a need that is not or cannot be met by for-profit businesses or government agencies (Gratton, 2018). Dr. Gratton observes that many non-profit organizations face numerous challenges in the areas of fundraising, finances, competition, personnel, and technology. According to Dr. Gratton's research, many nonprofit organizations do not strategically plan for the future. According to Dr. Gatton, nonprofit organizations do not use strategic planning as an organizational development tool. Organization development is a tool for systematically changing an organization's strategy, structure, culture, and processes. Organizational development leads to increased organizational effectiveness. Dr. Gatton came to the conclusion that non-profit organizations play an important role in meeting society's social and economic needs.

Many non-profits are so focused on day-to-day operations that they are illequipped to manage the strategic and systemic changes needed to thrive in the future (Gatton, 2018). Dr. Gatton advises using strategic planning for organizational development. The study's findings revealed a lack of strategic planning as a tool for organizational development. Technology has been identified as a challenge for nonprofit organizations. This study's researcher is looking into the use of technology in nonprofit organizations.

Because of organizational demands, the educational requirements for nonprofit leaders must change. Nelson (2020), of the University of Memphis, addresses the nonprofit concentration curriculum needs in the academic master's program of public administration. The researcher followed the Nonprofit Academic Center Council's guidelines (NACC). The guidelines were developed based on the current perceptions of nonprofit stakeholders and the knowledge required for a successful nonprofit organization. An operations-based education is perceived to be necessary for a nonprofit leader.

Furthermore, in order to compete in the nonprofit industry, nonprofit leaders must be strategic. For future nonprofit leaders, NACC emphasizes information technology, marketing, and communication skills. The study's findings provided educators with the information they needed to update the nonprofit curriculum to meet the needs of organizational and stakeholder stakeholders, as well as educational standards. This study's conceptual framework reflects the need for more nonprofit leadership education.

There is plenty of evidence demonstrating that volunteering generates a wide array of benefits for individuals, communities, and society at large (Aydinli-Karakulak et al., 2016). This research study features the role of technology in the management of volunteers. Chui and Chan (2019) emphasizes the use of technology in recruiting, managing and retaining volunteers in nonprofit organization. The study consists of investigating eight nonprofit organization. Data collection was via interviews with individuals of the nonprofit organizations. The researcher investigated how technology was used to improve the effectiveness of volunteer management. The results of the study revealed that technology improve recruitment by increasing and diversifying of obtaining volunteers, accelerating the process of volunteer matching and increased the efficiency of the administrative process of volunteer management. In addition, the study revealed technology resistance and volunteer accountability. Success of technology in volunteer management depends on technological acceptance, nonprofit management adaptation and the ability to actualize capacity optimizations. The result of the study reflected the utilization of technology by management of volunteers. Technology use in volunteer management is contingent on how well volunteer managers are able to actualize the notion of capacity optimization and the Implications for enhancing organizational capacity in volunteer management (Chui et al., 2019). The conceptual framework of the study features the technology education and training of nonprofit management.

Healthcare is being transformed by technology. Data feedback technology has the potential to support quality improvement (QI) in health care (Tolf, et al., 2020). When technology is used to improve quality, management must understand processes and data in order to evaluate organizational systems. The purpose of this study is to investigate the factors that influence the adoption of a technology-supported QI program in an obstetric unit using a complexity-informed framework (Tolf, et al., 2020).

Three focus group interviews were conducted as part of this study to collect data from the use of an analytical tool to measure performance. The data from the analytical tool appear to support quality improvements. The study's findings support the use of technology for continuous quality improvement. By providing timely and adequate feedback on performance, technology has the potential to enable systematic Quality Improvement. Managers strive to improve quality in their areas of responsibility. Adoption of such technology is complicated and necessitates a willingness to learn and improve gradually (Tolf et al., 2020).

Healthcare is being transformed by technology. Data feedback technology has the potential to support quality improvement (QI) in health care (Tolf, et al., 2020). When technology is used to improve quality, management must understand processes and data in order to evaluate organizational systems. The purpose of this study is to investigate the factors that influence the adoption of a technology-supported QI program in an obstetric unit using a complexity-informed framework (Tolf, et al., 2020). Three focus group interviews were conducted as part of this study to collect data from the use of an analytical tool to measure performance. The data from the analytical tool appear to

support quality improvements. The study's findings support the use of technology for continuous quality improvement. By providing timely and adequate feedback on performance, technology has the potential to enable systematic Quality Improvement. Managers strive to improve quality in their areas of responsibility. Adoption of such technology is complicated and necessitates a willingness to learn and improve gradually (Tolf, et al., 2020). This study's conceptual framework includes technology education and training for managers, as well as the improvement of business operations.

Many managers are in charge of coaching, teaching, and training their employees. This qualitative study investigated managerial coaching to facilitate employee development in a large UK higher education institution's IT department (Dawber, 2019). A grounded theory approach was used in this study. This qualitative study's findings point to more adaptable supportive managerial behavior. The systematic collaborative work environment translates into increased employee development, as evidenced by the development of a framework for higher education development of information technology staff (HEDITS). With the implementation of managerial coaching, the dynamically changing IT work environment supports and builds continuous IT employment development. Increased employee development leads to increased productivity. The higher education development of information technology staff (HEDITS) Framework depicts and suggests a practical approach to promoting workplace learning by emphasizing the interrelationships and interdependencies between 'The Learner,' 'The Facilitator,' and 'The Institution' (Dawber, 2019). The study's findings indicated the need for a systematic approach to implementing employee learning and

development. The HEDITS lays the groundwork for managerial coaching. The proposed study's conceptual framework emphasizes managerial learning and technological training.

Small and medium-sized businesses struggle to remain competitive. A substantial body of literature supports the importance of small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in emerging and mature economies. Nonetheless, the same study identifies various challenges that innovative firms in developing economies face, such as access to formal credit and external markets (Mallinguh, et al., 2020). This research project focuses on the acquisition of new technology and the sales performance of small and medium-sized businesses. The findings highlight two significant points. The points are a proportion of the capital budget that is allocated for the acquisition of technology that positively influences the SME's sales and, the owner-perception manager's reflects the attitude toward the relationship between capital budgets and technology acquisition and sales performance. The theoretical framework emphasizes the significance of managerial technology education and training.

Transition

Section 1 includes the foundation of the study, problem statement, purpose statement, nature of the study, the research question, interview questions, the conceptual framework of the study, definition of operational terms, the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations as well as contribution to the business practice, the implication for positive social change and literature review for the study. The foundation of the study presents the background of the study. The problem statement and purpose statement consist of the study's research problem and the purpose for researching the problem of ICT inefficiencies. The contribution to the business practice and implication for positive social change consists of how the study can positively affects nonprofit organization's business operation and societal implications. The literature review identifies the need for ICT in nonprofit organizations to increase efficiency and effectiveness. Section 2 includes the project, purpose statement, role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection and analysis process, procedures and reliability and validity for a single case study.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 includes the foundation of the study and results as well as interpretations. This section includes a summary of facts about the topic. Section 2 contains the study's purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design section, population and sampling section, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data analysis, reliability and validity, and a summary of the study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study to explore strategies used by nonprofit leaders to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve nonprofit organizational efficiencies and effectiveness. The target population of this single case study was organizational leaders of a nonprofit organization in a southern suburb of Chicago, Illinois who have successfully used strategies to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve organizational efficiencies and effectiveness. Study results may contribute to organizational efficiencies via adopting ICT by allowing for increased services to communities.

Role of the Researcher

I was the primary researcher for this qualitative case study. Qualitative research involves collecting, analyzing, and interpreting narrative and visual data to gain insights into a particular phenomenon of interest (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019). The qualitative researcher is the data collector, analyst, and data interpreter who creates study conclusions and recommendations. Qualitative researchers must be good listeners, adaptable, have knowledge of the subject matter, and conduct research in an ethical manner (Yin, 2018)

For this study, I selected organization participants, developed interview questions, conducted interviews, and observed business operations. I have over 25 years of IT work experience, having held computer programmer, programmer analyst, software developer, and IT consultant positions. I am currently an MIS/CIS full-time instructor and am an adjunct instructor for an accredited university. I have taught undergraduates and graduate students. While fulfilling the role of adjunct instructor, I was allowed to teach graduate masters in public administration (MPA) students computer skills and the importance of technology in nonprofit organizations. I developed an interest in how nonprofit organizations use technology into their business operations. I am the primary research instrument for data collection in this study. My lack of involvement with the nonprofit organization reduces the bias of the study.

Participants

I selected nonprofit organization and managers who met research criteria for the study. Participants in this study were organizational leaders of a nonprofit organization in the south suburb of Chicago. The participants of the study have successfully used a strategy to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve organizational efficiencies and effectiveness. An email was drafted and forwarded to management of nonprofit organizations in the Chicagoland area who met the requirement of the study (see Appendix A). Participants implemented a computer system for their business operations. After gaining informed consent, participants were informed of the nature of the case study. When each participant agreed to participate in the study, I provided them with a written summary of the study and the informed consent form in order to understand the study's ethical implications, participant rights, and researcher responsibilities. Participants' privacy and confidentiality was protected, and results of their participation were not shared.

The Institutional Review Board (IRB) review involves protection of human subjects or participants of the study. IRB implement guidelines that ensuring that an informed consent is obtained in human study research. After receiving IRB approval for the study, I forwarded emails to solicit participants. IRB guidelines and standards were adhered to throughout the study. The IRB approval number is 02-16-22-0521771.

Research Method and Design

I used a qualitative single case study design to explore nonprofit leader strategies to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve nonprofit organizational efficiencies and effectiveness. I shared results of the case study with nonprofit leaders. Knowledge gained from the case study experience created a framework for increasing effectiveness and efficiency of business operations of nonprofit organizations.

Research Method

Three research methods were considered for this study. The research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. I chose the qualitative method because it allows the researcher to explore participant experiences (Marshall & Rossman, 2016).

Qualitative research is based on study of participants with an interpretive approach to their environments. Qualitative research relies on social interactions (Saunders et al., 2016). The qualitative research methodology requires the researcher to be interpretive, emergent, and evolving rather than tightly prefigured (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Participants' knowledge and experiences are essential in terms of gaining insight about use of ICT to increase effectiveness and efficiency.

Quantitative research is characterized by deductive approaches to the research process aimed at proving, disproving, or lending credence to existing theories. Quantitative research involves measuring and testing relationships between variables in order to reveal patterns, correlations, and casual relationships (Leavy, 2017). The quantitative methodology was not suitable for this study because this study's purpose requires using an interpretive approach for interview data and not examining variable characteristics, correlations, or differences.

Mixed methods research involves collecting, analyzing, and integrating both qualitative and quantitative methods in a single project (Leavy, 2017). The mixed methodology was not appropriate as the study did not have a quantitative component. In this study, I was not testing a hypothesis nor seeking to understand the relationship between independent and dependent variables; therefore, the quantitative method was not appropriate for this study.

Research Design

The case study design was used in this study. A case study is primarily a social science research methodology used to investigate a phenomenon in depth in its real-world

context (Yin, 2018). A case study is appropriate because it allows the researcher to focus on a specific circumstance and retain a holistic and real-world perspective (Yin, 2018). The case in case study research may refer to a person, group, organization, association, change process, or event (Saunders et al., 2016).

Ethnography was another design considered for this research. The ethnographic design features an analysis of interactions within culture groups (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Ethnography design is one of inquiry coming from anthropology and qualitative sociology where ethnographies seek to understand the culture of human groups and how they maintain their culture (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Due to time constraints and the need for observations, this option is not appropriate. Since the proposed study focuses on individual experiences that could affect multiple people; therefore, ethnography research design is not appropriate for this study.

Narrative research design focus on how individuals assign meaning to their experiences through stories they tell. Narrative interlinked between an individual and her or his social and cultural context (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019). Narrative is related to life history. This method assumes that people construct their reality through their stories. The researcher explores a participant's story and record the story (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Narrative research design is based upon an individual reflective of another individual's life, therefore, narrative research design is not appropriate for this study.

Phenomenology is another design I considered for this study. Phenomenology may be conceived as a philosophy and a method. Phenomenology research designs is to investigate the meaning of the lived experience of people to identify the core essence of
human experience or phenomena (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019). Phenomenological studies seek the meaning behind the lived experiences of the participants. I explored the participant's lived experiences; with a focus on the meaning but rather the processes utilized by the participants. In phenomenological studies, learning about the shared experience can come from interviews, but not documents (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I reviewed and utilized organizational documentation as part of this study; the internal documentation review conflicts with Marshall and Rossman. Phenomenology research design was not appropriate for this study because the focus was on a business case, not the personal meanings of the participants' lived experience.

. There are two types of data saturation; one occurs during the interview process and the other through the coding process. Data saturation occurs when the collection of qualitative data provides little or no new information (Saunders et al., 2016). I will collect data until there are no new data points covered. The second form of data saturation occurs when no new information emerges during the coding process (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I will reach data saturation during the coding process when I cannot code any new themes.

Population and Sampling

The purpose of the population and sampling section is to allow the researcher to achieve the study objective and obtain quality and valid results. The selected population of this study was a nonprofit organization located in the Chicagoland area. Purposeful sampling, defined by Patton (2002), can be described as selecting a case that one can learn about the central focus to the purpose of the inquiry. Studying cases can yield insights and in-depth understanding rather than empirical generalizations (Patton, 2002).

A purposeful sample allows the researcher to identify participants who have specific insight and offer a unique perspective, often based on personal experience (Palinkas et al., 2015).

The participants in this study were the President/ VP, Director(s), and nonprofit organization manager(s). The participants were selected based on their knowledge of the business operations and knowledge to respond to the study's research questions. Data provided by the participants will allow the researcher to gather information needed for the study. The data collection instrument used in the study was semi-structure interviews. The use of interviews is used to gather valid and reliable data that coincides with the study's research question(s) (Saunders et al., 2016). Interviews was conducted at the convenience of the participant. A recorder was used to record the participant's responses.

Ethical Research

Ethical research is required to ensure the researcher adheres to the university standards. Ethics practice concerns will arise when planning the research of the study. Ethics becomes a topic when a researcher requests access to an organization's data for analysis and reporting (Saunders et al., 2016). Yin (2018) states that avoiding bias is an important facet of research ethics. I seeked permission of Walden's IRB to conduct a single case study. When IRB approval is granted to conduct the single case study, I will abide by the Office of Research Ethics and Compliance, the Institutional Review Board of Ethical standards in Research, and Walden's IRB ethical standard practices. In order to meet the requirements of Walden University, all research participants signed an informed consent before any data collection occurred.

An email (Appendix A) was sent requesting participation along with an informed consent form (Appendix C). The informed consent form identifies the nature of the study, the purpose of the study, responsibility of the researcher for ensuring confidentiality, existence of an audio recording device for documentation and formally solicit their volunteerism in participating in the study. The informed consent participant's disclosure agreement states participations in the study is voluntary with no incentives or compensation. Participant was informed that they have the right to withdraw from the study at any time. A participant that is withdrawing from the study was asked to email the researcher of the decision to withdraw from the study.

The researcher was responsible for inhering to the ethical standards and principles and informed consent. The researcher has the ethical duty of confidentiality of protecting participant rights and privacy, information from unauthorized access, use disclose, modification, loss or theft (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019). Transparency is key to building creditability(believability), dependability (consistency), confirmability (ability to corroborate), and transferability(applicability) into your methodology (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019). Transparency between researcher and participants is essential for the success of the study.

Respecting the privacy of research participants is at the heart of the conduct of ethical research. Researchers attempts to ensure the privacy of research participants by collecting anonymous information and ensuring that the information collected is kept confidential (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019). Ensuring anonymity means no identifying information of the participants will be included and no linking of individual responses with participants' identities (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019). To ensure confidentiality, discretion and anonymity, pseudonym's name was used to identify participants. Electronic executed Informed Consent Forms, recorded interviews, and the researcher's interpretation of data will be stored in a safe and on a personal password-protected external hard drive for a minimum of five years, ensuring the rights of the participants and that their identity remain confidential. After a period of 5 years, the informed consent forms, recorded interview data will be destroyed.

Data Collection Instruments

In this proposed study, I was the data collection instrument. The data collection steps include setting boundaries and collecting information through semi-structured interviews and observations (Yin, 2018). In this case study, semi-structured interviews will be used to explore the strategies of the CEO, Director, and Managers use to implement ICT systems in nonprofit organizations. The primary data collection method was participant interviews. The interview questions included open-ended questions to allow the research participants to expand on their insights and perspectives (Appendix B).

The secondary data collection method that was used is direct observation. Such observation served as another source of evidence in doing case study research (Morgan, et.al, 2016). Observation is a central and fundamental method in qualitative inquiry and used to discover and explain complex interactions in natural social setting (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019).

The third form of data collection was the analysis of documents in the business operation process. Yin (2018) indicates that records in paper or electronic form is

relevant. However, for a case study, research documentation is used to corroborate and augment evidence from other sources (Saunders et al., 2015). Records stored in public, private or nonprofit organizations' database as part of their day-to-day business operations are another form of documentation that is considered secondary data (Saunders et al., 2015). The advantage of secondary data is the saving of resources. The collection of documents is less expensive and time consuming than the researcher collection the data themselves (Saunders et al., 2015).

Member checking is important in the reliability component of the study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Following the interview of the organization's CEO, the Director and the manager(s), I will provide each participant with a detailed summary of the interview to allow each participant to validate the data collected in the interview and to prevent bias. Through member checking, Daniel (2018) argued that the researcher stands a chance of achieving rigor or thoroughness in case studies. As Daniel noted, member checking presents an opportunity through which the researcher can verify the level of accuracy in a participant's response.

The researcher must adhere to the availability of the interviewees' (Yin, 2018). A researcher can get different answers and interactions during an interview session if they ask different participants the same interview questions (Cataldi, 2018). I scheduled the interview(s) at a time that was convenient for each participant. Interview protocols was used by the researcher to ensure the validity and reliability of the data collection (Yin, 2018).

Data Collection Technique

The methods of data collection that was used in this study were interviews, direct observation and organizational documents. One of the most important sources is case study evidence is the interview (Yin, 2018). Interviews can especially help by suggesting explanations (i.e., the "hows" and "whys") of key events and the participant's perspectives (Yin, 2018). The primary data collection occurred via interviews using open-ended questions. The formal presentation of interview questions occurred during face-to-face interviews at the participant(s) location. Interviews lasted about 45-60 minutes and was recorded. The secondary data collection used was direct observation. Using observation as a method of data collection allows the observing of individuals and the interaction between the informants (Saunders et al, 2016).

The advantage of semi-structure interview is that it allows the interviewer to concentrate on questioning, listening direct quotes and accurately recorded (Saunders, et al,2016). Semi-structured interviews include the flexibility of using follow up and supporting questions in the data collection process. The disadvantage of semi-structure interview is participant's responses may be bias or interview bias nay be observed by the researcher. Response bias can be linked to perception of the interviewee. Interview bias occurs where non-verbal behavior create a bias to the way the interviewee responds to the question (Saunders, et al,2016).

The advantage of observation is the capability of observing the frequency of events. Relationships of events can be compared and recorded. The collection of data occurred in the natural setting that eliminated secondary interpretation. Observation heightened researcher awareness of the social process. (Saunders, et al,2016). The disadvantage of observations is the impact or effectiveness of the behaviors, interactions or event may be inadequate to explore. The observation is limited to overt actions or surface indicators The observation can be time consuming and pose difficult ethical dilemmas (Saunders, et al,2016).

The advantage of using organization documents as a data collection instrument is it a saving of resources such as time and money (Vartanian, 2011) Reviewing organization document is less expensive and less time consuming to use secondary data source (Saunders, et al, 2016). The use of secondary data is data that has previously been collected and provide an unobtrusive measure (Saunders, et al, 2016). Secondary data can provide specific details to corroborate information from other sources (Yin, 2018).

The disadvantage of organization documents is the collection of data could differ from the research question(s) or objectives (Saunders, et al, 2016). Secondary data can be biases if collection is incomplete. Also, access to documents may be deliberately withheld (Yin, 2018).

In qualitative research interviews, the interview is audio-recorded and transcribed. Data transcription is the reproduced verbatim audio recorded research interview (Saunders, et al, 2016). The task of transcribing audio recording is time consuming, but it is important that the interviewer record exactly what was said.

Member checking is intended to validate the data collected by sending an interview summary to the participants to confirm accuracy of the data collected in the interview. Member Checking permits comments and corrections (Saunders, et al,2016).

Member checking can cause a problem if the participant would like to withdraw some data or alter the data. The researcher must differentiate between both cases. The alter of data may cause an ethical scenario (Saunders, et al,2016).

Data Organization Technique

The research question in this study was, what strategies do nonprofit leaders use to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve nonprofit organizational efficiencies and effectiveness? The data collection process consisted of interviews and direct observation. Data organization was initiated after the data collection process is completed. When beginning analysis, it is essential that the researcher spend time organizing the data (Marshall & Rossman (2016). During the interview, I will record each interview using an electric recorder while taking notes. The interviews were electronically transferred to my laptop. I transcribed each interview using transcription software. The electronic record file of the data collected was password-protected. The transcript of the interviews was stored in a secretly stored location and destroyed after 5 years. I observed each participant during the interview and took notes using a journal. My journal notes was compared to the responses to the interview questions.

A coding methodology was used to code the content of the interviews. I identified themes and patterns for the interviews by transcribing the recorded interview into a Microsoft word document. Data was uploaded into the software program called NVivo. NVivo is a qualitative data analysis software that will categorize the data collected (Yin, 2018). The methods of data collection that was used are interviews, direct observations, and organizational documents. One of the most important sources is case study evidence is the interview (Yin, 2018). Interviews can especially help by suggesting explanations (i.e., the "hows" and "whys") of key events and the participant's perspectives (Yin, 2018). The primary data collection occurred via interviews using open-ended questions. The formal presentation of interview questions occurred during face-to-face interviews at the participant(s) location. Using observation as a data collection method allows the observing of individuals and the interaction between the informants (Saunders et al, 2016). The interview were face-to-face at the participant(s) location. Interviews were scheduled to last about 45-60 minutes and was recorded.

Data Analysis

Marshall & Rossman (2016) crafted a seven-step process of data analysis. The seven-step process consists of (1) organizing data, (2) immersion in data, (3) generating possible categories and themes, (4) coding data, (5) offering interpretation, (6) searching for alternative understand, and (7) presenting the study findings. I used NVivo to code the data collected. The software will not do the finished analysis independently, but it may serve as an able assistant and reliable tool (Yin, 2018). With the assistance of the NVivo software, I identified the patterns of code to form the themes in the study correlating the literature and my conceptual framework.

The coding process was intended to compare collected data and to categorize it. This process is to check for similarities and differences to promoter consistency to assist in the analysis process (Saunders et al., 2016). As the researcher codes data in categories, relationships and pattens will result in as emergent theme (Saunders et al., 2016).

I used data triangulation to strengthen the validity of the case study. The multiple sources of evidence provide multiple measures of the same phenomenon (Yin, 2018). The data collection methods of semi-structured interviews, observation, and organizational documents was used. I compiled the results of the data collection of the study. Triangulation of data was reached by conducting an analysis of the data collected during the semi structured, interviews, direct observation, and documentation analysis. Thus, emerging themes were evaluated to ensure the findings presented reliability and validity.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Qualitative research has been in question concerning reliability and validity. Reliability and validity are the most critical components for evaluating the research quality (Saunders et al., 2016). Reliability can be defined as the ability to replicate and to be consistent. If a researcher can replicate an earlier research design and obtain the same results, then the research would be viewed as reliable (Saunders et al., 2016). Member checking was used to establish the dependability in the study. The researchers use member checking by sharing the data and interpretation with the participants (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Researchers request feedback from participants through the member checking process, which increases the reliability of the data collected and analyzed (Saunders, et al., 2016). Following the interviews, I shared a summary of the interview with each participant for member checking. The participants had the opportunity to confirm or change the collected and analyzed data. I made changes based on the participant's suggestions.

Validity

Validity refers to the appropriateness of the measure used, the accuracy of the analysis of the results (Saunders et al, 2016). Validity is intended to validate the research data, analyst and interpretation to legitimize the authenticity (Saunders et al, 2016). Validity of a research study occurs when the measure that is being used to assess the phenomenon measures what the researcher intended to measure (Saunders et al, 2016). Researchers use data triangulation to verify if there is a convergence of information in their study (Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) believes that data triangulation assists in strengthening the construct validity of a case study. This case study used multiple sources of evidence as data triangulation. Fusch & Ness, (2015) believes that data saturation is reached when data triangulation is achieved. Data saturation and triangulation are critical to achieving reliability and validity (Fusch & Ness, 2015).

Creditability

Creditability is a process of ensuring accuracy (Yin, 2018). Creditability can be established by using member checking, data triangulation and data saturation to increase the creditability of the study (Yin,2018). In member checking, the researcher summarizes the interview and ask the participants for reactions, correction and further insight (Marshall &Rossman, 2016). Data triangulation is the process of collecting data through multiple sources. Data triangulation strengthens your study by combining methods and is a n important strategy for enhancing the quality of data from multiple sources, in multiple ways, with the idea that this practice will afford and in-depth understanding (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019). This study included interviews, observations, member checking, and data analysis. Data saturation occurs when the researcher notices a repetitive pattern and determines that no more can be gained from data collection (Marshall &Rossman, 2016). *Confirmability*

The way qualitative researchers parallel the concept of objectivity is confirmability. Confirmability consists of whether the findings of the study could be confirmed by another individual or another study (Marshall &Rossman, 2016). In this study, a journal was used to ensure all information provided by the participants in the interviews and observation confirmed the actual data collected.

Transferability

Transferability are ways that the study's findings are useful to other researchers in a similar situation, similar research questions, or question of practice. The burden of demonstrating that a set of findings applies to another context rests more with another researcher who would make that transfer than with the original researcher (Marshall &Rossman, 2016). In my study, I documented interview questions, methods, designs, and techniques that researchers can use in future research.

Transition and Summary

In section 2, I included the role of the researcher, participants, research methods and design, population and sampling, data collection and techniques, data analysis, and reliability and validity. Section 3 will present the study's results and findings as well as recommendations for continue research of the subject matter of the study. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Section 3 includes findings, implications for social change, suggestions for participant action, future research, and reflections.

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies that nonprofit leaders used to incorporate ICT into their business operations to improve organizational effectiveness and efficiency. Data were collected from the CEO/director, vice president, IT/project manager, and administrative assistant. Data collection tools were semi-structured interviews, direct observations of organizational operations, and organizational documents. Included in my study was an observation protocol (see Appendix D). The purpose of the observation protocol was to ensure consistency during the data collection process. Direct observation was conducted on consenting participants, during which I observed their roles in business operations. Consent forms included the purpose of the study, privacy measures, the voluntary nature of the study, and risks and benefits. Data collection shows benefits of incorporating technology into business operations and how this increases organizational efficiency and effectiveness.

Presentation of the Findings

This single case study was based on incorporation of ICT into business operations of a nonprofit organization. Participants are identified as P1, P2, P3, and P4. Data collection involved semi-structured interviews, direct observations, and organizational documents. NVivo was used to identify themes. Three themes resulted in the incorporation of ICT into the business operations of the nonprofit organization. The three themes are: implementation and selection of software, employee adaptation and training, and process improvement and increased productivity.

Theme 1: Implementation and Selection of Software

The first theme to be revealed from the collected data was implementation and selection of software. A strategy to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve efficiency was to select software programs to computerize organizational processes. Implementation of software to replace manual operations will increase the efficiency of business operations.

P1 expressed the importance of the selection of computer software for the organization. P1 stated that as a paper-based operation, the organization needed to become a computer-based organization. P4 said software must fit the needs of the organization and be easy to use for staff. P4 said the organization needed to improve business operations through use of technology. P1 explained improvements in terms of organizational efficiency in processing records since the adoption of software. P4 expressed the desire for the organization to add more technology to organizational operations. P2 stated that converting computer-based processes was a challenge that the organization faced but after implementing customer relation management software, learning management system software and project management system software, the business processes improved.

The organization added customer relation management software to keep a record of potential and existing customer information. This information is used to collate customer status, program acceptance, and program completion. A learning management system (LMS) was acquired to maintain educational material for each course. Instructors use the LMS to present course content, record lectures, administer tests, and maintain student grades. PMS software is used to monitor student educational material orders, acquisitions, and deliveries.

Theme 2: Employee Adaptation and Training

The second theme is employee adaptation and training. A strategy for incorporating ICT into business operations of the organization is to employ individuals who are computer literate and open to learning and being trained in technical fields. Employees of the organization were trained to use the CRS,LMS and PMS software that was adopted for business operations. P1 said software training and employees' success created a more efficient work environment. P3 stated lack of knowledge of software presented a challenge to staff.

Technology is an essential tool used in business operations. The conceptual framework in this study was the IT competency theory. The IT competency model was developed by the U.S. DOLETA and introduced in September 2012. Tysiac (2018) stated nonprofit organization's success depends on recruitment, retention, and training. Technological advancement requires advanced training of employees. Individuals who are not technologically trained will have limited or selective employment opportunities.

Theme 3: Process Improvement and Increased Productivity

The third theme presents the goals for incorporating ICT into the business operation of the organization. Process improvement increases productivity. The transition

from a paper-based system to a computer-based process resulted in the computer storage of records and a more efficient system for data processing and analysis.

Switzer (2017)discussed the topic of a nonprofit organization that has adopted a computer system and its development analysis process. Switzer (2017) stated that parts of an organization can work together on a set of technologies. This approach allows a nonprofit organization to implement strategic technological processes and make ongoing improvements to its business operation. The research question of this study is centered around the incorporation of ICT to improve business operations. Boles (2019) explained how the use of technology will increase the efficiency of nonprofit organizations and social workers' operations. The adoption of technology will improve the operational workflow of a nonprofit organization. Many organizations use innovation to become more efficient. Innovation is generally defined as the generation (development) or adoption (use) of new ideas, objects, or practices (Amabile, 1988; O'Toole, 1997; Rogers, 1995).

P4 stated that the acquisition of a computer-based system makes the organization more efficient P1 emphasizes the importance of improvement of the processes and increasing organizational productivity Bustinza, et al., (2019) believes that technology capabilities and resilience capabilities lead to organizational effectiveness. Technology capabilities allow for an organization to meet the challenges of the industry

Other Relevant Findings

The CEO/Director of the nonprofit understands the advantage that technology gives an organization. The CEO/Director, based on the data collected, coincides with the

IT competency model or the conceptual framework of the study. The IT competency model was developed by the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training (DOLETA), and was introduced in September 2012. The purpose of the competency model, developed by McClelland (1973), Boyatzis (1982), Sandwith (1993), and Bassellier et al (2001), is to increase the manager's ability to adapt and understand new technologies.

The conceptual framework of this study is based on IT competency model. The U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training (DOLETA) developed the IT competency The conceptual framework supports the initial theme discovered in this research. The participants' response supports the managements' philosophy of technology and improved productivity. The IT competency model is to use technology to increase efficiency in the workplace environment.

The purpose of the competency model, developed by McClelland (1973), Boyatzis (1982), Sandwith (1993), and Bassellier et al. (2001), is to increase the manager's ability to understand and adapt to new technologies. The secondary theme employee adaptation and training supports the purpose of the competency model. This study's findings confirms the strategy of incorporating ICT into the business operation improves the nonprofit organization's efficiency.

Application to Professional Practice

The strategies of incorporating ICT into the business operations of a nonprofit organization to increase organizational efficiency and effectiveness were explored. Direct observation, semi-structured interviews, and organization documents were the data collection tool that was used. The triangulating process was used to validate the data collection process. Thus, any case study finding, or conclusion is likely to be more convincing and accurate if it is based on several different sources of information (Yin, 2018). The data collection methods of semi-structured interviews, direct observation, and organizational documents were essential in responding to the research question of "The incorporation of ICT increase the efficiency of the business operations of the organization".

Findings from this study coincided with peer-reviewed studies indicating the incorporation of ICT increases organizational efficiency and effectiveness. Organization efficiency in the business operation translates into decreased cost and increased resources that fund the organizational initiative. Nonprofit organization leaders are responsible for the leadership and the direction of the organization and its business operations. Business operation increase efficiency and the incorporation of technology increase productivity.

Bobsin, et al (2019) believes that incorporating technology will benefit the business operations of a nonprofit organization. Boles (2019) emphasizes that many nonprofit organizations use technology, but the increased knowledge and innovation would decrease cost and increase funding. The goal of a nonprofit organization must include decrease costs, increase efficiency and to increase funding.

Implications for Social Change

Nonprofit organizations are social change agents (Norris, 2019). Nonprofit organizations intend to assist society by striving to enrich people's quality of life (Williams, et al, 2013). Nonprofit management objective has been focused on nonprofit organizations accomplishing their missions and goals. Nonprofit management looks to assess the structures, systems, and growing inequality that shape our society at large and to equip nonprofit leaders with a more equal, humane, and power-sharing reality (Gray, 2020). The goal of an efficient technological environment is to provide better service more effectively. The adoption of technology can allow for increased services provided to the community. Positive social change implies that leaders of nonprofit organizations could use this study's findings to increase both the breadth and organizational effectiveness of services for needy citizens.

Recommendation for Action

This study is intended to explore the strategies of nonprofit leaders in the implication of ICT into the business operation of the organization. Based on the findings of this study, nonprofit organizational managers may consider incorporating ICT to improve. There are three recommendations nonprofit organization managers.to consider, in improving the efficiency of the business operation of their nonprofit organization. The first recommendation would be to adopt and implement software that meets the requirements and needs of the organization. Software programs acquired by the organization must integrate with other software program. Software integration improved the business process and increases the organization's productivity.

The second recommendation is to acquire technology-oriented employees. The adoption of software in a work environment that is migrating from paper-based to technology will require technology training employees. Employees that accept and use technology will adapt the change in the work environment. The success of a new business process adaptation includes user acceptance and technology integration.

The third recommendation is to analyze the results of the revised process to ensure the business process is providing proper results. The transformation from a paperbased system to a computer-based system should include parallel processing. The results of both systems must be compared for processing accuracy.

Recommendations for Further Research

The findings of this study require further research and exploration. The benefit of incorporating ICT into the organization's business operation will increase the organization's efficiency and allow for increased revenue for the organization initiative. I recommend the future researchers expand the research question to include specific software and or technology that will positively affect nonprofit organizations in accomplishing their mission. I recommend that future researchers expand the research question to investigate specific technologies that are specifically developed for nonprofit organization. Additionally, the different strategies that nonprofit organization leaders used to incorporate technology into their organization should be explored.

Reflection on the DBA Journey

The journey of pursuing a Doctor of Business Administration at Walden University was a combination of experiences. I felt frustrated and was initially overwhelmed with the process. The journey was challenging and contains various obstacles that had to be surpassed. Each week, inspiring words kept me motivated to continue to completion. The encouragement from my cohorts and classmate assist me through the tough times.

The journey is filled with gaining and sharing knowledge and experiences. The experience has come to completion only to lead me in a new direction with new experiences. Overall, I have enjoyed my journey at Walden University, and I am grateful to Dr. Ronald Black for his knowledge and expertise. This journey will forever be a significant period in my life that includes many emotions. I am no longer the same individual that began this journey and will forever be grateful for the experience.

Conclusion

The implementation of ICT into the business operation of a nonprofit organization can be successful if the CEO/Director or decision-makers understands the advantage of the adaptation of technology. Based on the IT competency model, manager technological knowledge is key in the adaptation of technology. The IT competency model is a conceptual framework that can help business managers obtain a better understanding of the concepts, assumptions, expectations, and theories related to increasing employee competencies in the workplace (Imenda, 2014). The increased employee competencies relate to the employee acceptance and training theme from the data analysis.

The findings of the study indicated that the technical knowledge and belief of nonprofit leadership is a prerequisite for the adoption and implementation of ICT into the business operation of the organization. The findings resulted in the success of the incorporation of ICT depending on employees' technological acceptance. The successful implementation of the strategies of nonprofit leadership will results in an efficient and effective business operation of the organization.

References

- Abdillah, H., Setyosari, P., Lasan, B. B., & Muslihati, M. (2020). The acceptance of school counselor in the use of ICT during school from home in the COVID-19 era. *Journal for the Education of Gifted Young Scientists*, 8(4), 1569–1582. https://doi.org/10.17478/804939
- Amabile, T. M. (1988), A model of creativity and innovation in organizations. In L. L.Cummings and B. M. Staw (Eds.), *Research in organizational behavior* (vol. 10).JAI Press.
- Anheier, H. (2005). *Nonprofit organizations: Theory, management, policy*. Routledge Publishing.
- Antonioli, D., Cecere, G., & Mazzanti, M. (2018). Information communication technologies and environmental innovations in firms: joint adoptions and productivity effects. *Journal of Environmental Planning & Management*, 61(11), 1905–1933. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2017.140152
- Archibald, G. (2020). Cybersecurity protections are essential for nonprofits, now more than ever. *Rochester Business Journal*, 35(15), 28-28, 31. <u>https://ezp.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com%2Ftrade-journals%2Fcybersecurity-protections-are-essential%2Fdocview%2F2449983457%2Fse-2%3Faccountid%3D14872</u>
- Aydinli-Karakulak, A., Bender, M., Chong, A. M. L., & Yue, X. (2016). Applying Western models of volunteering in Hong Kong: The role of empathy, prosocial

motivation and motive–experience fit for volunteering. *Asian Journal of Social Psychology*, *19*(2), 112–123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajsp.12125</u>

- Bassellier, G., Reich, B. H., & Benbasat, I. (2001). Information technology competence of business managers: A definition and research model. *Journal of Management Information System*, 17(4), 159-182. <u>http://www.jmisweb.org/issues/</u>
- Bernholz, L. (2017). Digital literacy: core capacity for today's nonprofits. <u>https://medium.com/the-digital-civil-society-lab/digital-literacy-core-capacity-for-</u> todays-nonprofits-428fc3559ab2
- Bloch, R. I., Harris, E. E., & Peterson, A. N. (2020). Interlocking boards in nonprofit organizations. *Accounting Horizons*, 34(2), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.2308/horizons-16-104
- Bobsin, D., Petrini, M., & Pozzebon, M. (2018). The value of technology affordances to improve the management of nonprofit organizations. *RAUSP Management Journal*, 54(1), 14–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/RAUSP-07-2018-0045</u>
- Boles, B. (2019). Technology's role in the nonprofit sector. *Columbia Social Work Review*, 11(1), p. ##-##?.
- Bopp, C., & Voida, A. (2020). Voices of the social sector: A systematic review of stakeholder voice in HCI research with nonprofit organizations. *ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction*, 27(2), 1–26.
 https://doi.org/10.1145/3368368
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1982). *The competent manager: A model for effective performance*. John Wiley & Sons Inc.

Bustinza, O. F., Vendrell-Herrero, F., Perez-Arostegui, M., & Parry, G. (2019).

Technological capabilities, resilience capabilities and organizational effectiveness. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *30*(8), 1370–1392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1216878</u>

Byham, W. (YEAR?). Title of source.

http://www.ddiworld.com/ddi/media/monographs/competencybasedhrystems_mg __ddi.pdf?ext=.pdf

Cataldi, S. (2018). A proposal for the analysis of the relational dimension in the interview techniques: A pilot study on in-depth interviews and focus groups. *Quality and Quantity*, 52(1), 295-312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0468-9</u>

Chomchaiya, S., & Esichaikul, V. (2016). Consolidated performance measurement framework for government e-procurement focusing on internal stakeholders. *Information Technology & People*, 29(2), 354–380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-12-2013-0210</u>

Chowdhury, A. R., Mangaraj, B. K., & Jomon, M. G. (2020). Process & Radical

HR Innovations & Organizational Effectiveness: An Empirical Study. *Indian Journal of Industrial Relations*, 56(2), 339–355.

Chui, C. H., & Chan, C. H. (2019). The role of technology in reconfiguring volunteer management in nonprofits in Hong Kong: Benefits and discontents. *Nonprofit Management & Leadership*, *30*(1), 89.

Cloudinary. (4 C.E. 2020). Cloudinary Launches Media Management Program for Nonprofits. *Business Wire (English)*.

Colbert, A., Yee, N & George, G. (2016). The digital workforce and the

workplace of the future Academy of Management Journal, 59(3), 731-739.

https//doi.org/10.5465/amj.2016.4003.

Daniel, B. K. (2018). Empirical verification of the "TACT" framework for teaching rigour in qualitative research methodology. Qualitative Research Journal, 18(3), 262-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/qrj-d-17-00012</u>.

Dawber, T. (2019). The Manager as Coach and Facilitator of Development for Employees in Information Technology (IT). *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring*, *S13*, 32–48. https://doi-org/10.24384/pkeh-xp84.

Debora B., Maira P., & Marlei P. (2019). The value of technology affordances to improve the management of nonprofit organizations. *RAUSP Management Journal*, *54*(1), 14-37. https/doi.org/10.1108/RAUSP-07-2018-0045

Dedrick, J., Gurbaxani, V., & Kraemer, K. L. (2003). Information technology and economic performance: A critical review of the empirical evidence. *ACM Computing Surveys*, 35(1), 1-28. https://doi.org/10.1.1.509.9982&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Diego, F.-D., & Mark L., J. (2002). Cause and effect theories of attention: The role of conceptual metaphors. *Review of General Psychology*, 6 (2), 153-165. https://scholarsbank.uoregon.edu/xmlui/handle/1794/2208

Dinesh R., & Given L.M. (2017). Non-profit organizations' use of tools and technologies for knowledge management: a comparative study. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 21(4) 718-740.https//doi.org/10.1108/JKM-06-2016-0229

Dobrai, K & Farkas, F. (2016). Nonprofit organization from the prospective of organizational development and their influence on professionalization. Our Economy 62(2), 25-32. https://doi.org/10.1515/ngoe-2016-0009

Durham, R. E., & Baltimore Education Research Consortium (BERC). (2018). Improving Baltimore Students' Access to College: A Qualitative Study of Two College Bound Delivery Models. In *Baltimore Education Research Consortium*. Baltimore Education Research Consortium

Dweck, C. S. (2008). Mindset: The new psychology of success. Random House Digital, Inc

Dweck, C. (2014). Talent: How companies can profit from a" growth mindset". Harvard Business Review, 92(11), 7

Dyer, J. H., Godfrey, P., Jensen, R., & Bryce, D. (2016). Strategic management: Concepts and tools for creating real world strategy. John Wiley & Sons.

Dziak, M. (2020). Technology acceptance model (TAM). *Salem Press Encyclopedia of Science*.

English, M. (2019). Nonprofit Leadership and Management. Salem Press Encyclopedia.

Edmund Mallinguh, Christopher Wasike, & Zeman Zoltan. (2020). Technology Acquisition and Smes Performance, the Role of Innovation, Export and the Perception of Owner-Managers. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, *13*(258), 258. https://doiorg/10.3390/jrfm13110258. Frey, C. B. and Osborne, M. A. (2017). The Future of Employment: How Susceptible are Jobs to Computerisation? Oxford Martin School, Oxford, September 7, 2013

Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are We There Yet? Data Saturation in Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416.

Giotopoulos, I., Kontolaimou, A., Korra, E., & Tsakanikas, A. (2017). What drives ICT adoption by SMEs? Evidence from a large-scale survey in Greece. *Journal of Business Research*, *81*, 60–69. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.08.007

Gratton, P. C., D.B.A. (2018). Organization development and strategic planning for non-profit organizations. *Organization Development Journal*, *36*(2), 27-38. https://ezp.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com%2Fscholarlyjournals%2Forganization-development-strategic-planning-

non%2Fdocview%2F2099388933%2Fse-2%3Faccountid%3D14872

Gordon, E., & Lopez, R. A. (2019). The practice of civic tech: Tensions in the adoption and use of new technologies in community-based organizations. *Media & Communication*, *7*(3), 57.

Gray, C. M. (2020). Reframing nonprofit organizations: democracy, inclusion, and social change. *Journal of Nonprofit Education & Leadership*, *10*(2), 224-226. https://doi-.org/10.18666/JNEL-2020-V10-I2-10185

Goldkind, L. (2015). Social media and social service: Are nonprofits plugged in to the digital age? *Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance, 39*(4), 380–396. <u>https://doi-org/10.1080/23303131.2015.1053585</u> Gunawan, A. S., Fiarni, C., & Ryana, Y. (2017). Design for performance

monitoring system using earned value analysis method for nonprofit organizations case study of organization X, Indonesia. 2017 3rd International Conference on Science in Information Technology (ICSITech), Science in Information Technology (ICSITech), 2017 3rd International Conference On, 477–482. https://doi-

org/10.1109/ICSITech.2017.8257159

Hallock, K. F. 1997. Reciprocally interlocking boards of directors and executive compensation. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis 32 (3): 331–344. https://doi.org/10.2307/2331203

Hopkins, B. R. (2017). *Starting and managing a nonprofit organization: a legal guide* (Seventh edition.). Wiley.

Hussain, M., Al Hammadi, F., & Adebanjo, D. (2020). Adoption of practices for organizational effectiveness in healthcare supply chains: Insights from the United Arab Emirates (UAE). *International Journal of Productivity & Performance*

Management, 69(5), 915-938. https://doi-org/10.1108/IJPPM-12-2018-0440.

Hwang, S. (2017). Collaborative governance and information technology innovation: public–nonprofit partnerships to build neighborhood information systems. *International Review of Public Administration*, 22(4), 321.

Ihm, J. (2019). Communicating without nonprofit organizations on nonprofits' social media: Stakeholders' autonomous networks and three types of organizational ties. *New Media & Society*, *21*(11–12), 2648–2670. https://doi-

org.ezp./10.1177/1461444819854806

Imenda, S. (2014). Is there a conceptual difference between theoretical and conceptual frameworks? *Journal of Social Science*, *38*(2), 185-195. https://www.pdfs.semanticscholar.org/

Infante-Moro, A., JuanInfante-Moro, & Gallardo-Pérez, J. (2021). The acquisition of ICT skills at the university level: the case of the Faculty of Business Studies and Tourism of the University of Huelva. *Pixel-Bit, Revista de Medios y Educacion*, 60, 29–58. https://doi-org/10.12795/pixelbit.79471

Jeronimo, C., Pereira, L., & Sousa, H. (2019). Management Consulting Business Models: Operations through and for Digital Transformation. *2019 IEEE International Conference on Engineering, Technology and Innovation (ICE/ITMC), Engineering, Technology and Innovation (ICE/ITMC), 2019 IEEE International Conference On*, 1–6. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1109/ICE.2019.8792592

Johansson, B., Karlsson, L., Laine, E., & Wiksell, V. (2016). After a Successful Business Case of ERP – What Happens then? *Procedia Computer Science*, *100*, 383–392. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.procs.2016.09.173

Lavrinenko, S. V., & Ikonnikova, P. K. (2016). The effectiveness of information and communication technologies in the educational process. 2016 11th International Forum on Strategic Technology (IFOST), Strategic Technology (IFOST), 2016 11th International Forum On, 465–468. https://doi-org/10.1109/IFOST.2016.7884296.

Leavy, P (2017) Research design SAGE Publication

Lousã, E. P., & Gomes, A. D. (2017). The influence of technology, organizational size and age on Innovation. *Revista Psicologia Organizações e Trabalho*, *17*(4), 252–259.

Maguire, K. (2016). How Nonprofits Use Online Technologies. Strategic Finance, 98(2), 62–63.

Manikas, Andrew S.; Kroes, James R.; Gattiker, Thomas F (2017). Leveraging academic partnerships to improve logistics at nonprofit organizations. *Nonprofit Management & Leadership*, 27(3), 435–444. https://doi-org./10.1002/nml.21246.

Manoharan, A., & Singal, M. (2019). Organizational effectiveness in hospitality: Manager's perspectives. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 80, 123–125. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2019.02.004

Marshall, C. & Rossman, G. B. (2016) Designing qualitative research. Sage Publication

McClelland, D. C. (1973). Testing for competence rather than for intelligence. *American Psychologist*, 28(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0034092

McCully, G. (2019). Research and Practice in "Nonprofits" and Philanthropy: An Overview. *Journal of Nonprofit Education & Leadership*, 9(3), 217–221. https://doiorg./10.18666/JNEL-2019-V9-I3-10016.

McGuirk, H., Lenihan, H., & Hart, M. (2015). Measuring the impact of innovative human capital on small firms' propensity to innovate. Research Policy, 44(4), 965-976. doi: 10.1016/j.respol.2014.11.008 McKeever, B. and Gaddy, M (2016, October 24). The nonprofit workforce: by the numbers. *Nonprofit Quarterly*.

Mendoza-Walters, A., & Ivanov, S. (2016). Combining Passion with Planning: Applying Organizational Theory to Improve Business Operations in Non-Profit

Organizations. International Journal of Organizational Innovation, 9(2), 46–51.

Milde, K., & Yawson, R. M. (2017). Strategies for Social Media Use in Nonprofits. *Journal of Management Policy & Practice*, *18*(1), 19–27.

Miranda, M. Q., Farias, J. S., de Araújo Schwartz, C., & de Almeida, J. P. L. (2016). Technology adoption in diffusion of innovations perspective: Introduction of an ERP system in a non-profit organization. *RAI Revista de Administração e Inovação*, *13*(1), 48-57. https//doi.org/10.1016/j.rai.2016.02.002. Morgan, S. J. Pullon, S. R. H., MacDonald, L. M., McKinlay, E.M., & Gray, B.V.

(2016. Case study observation research; A framework for conducting case study research where observation data are the focus, Qualitative Health Research, 26,1-9.

National Council of Nonprofits. (9 C.E., Summer 2019). Landmark report from the National Council of Nonprofits examines the indispensable role nonprofits play improving lives, bolstering economies, and strengthening democracy. *Business Wire* (*English*)

Nazarian, A, Atkinson, P. Foroudi, P (2017) Influence of national culture and balanced organizational culture on the hotel industry's performance Int. J. Hosp. Manag.,63\(2017), pp. 22-32

Nelson, E. (2020). Stakeholder engagement in curricular design: Addressing current and emergent community needs. *The Journal of Nonprofit Education and Leadership*, *10*(1) doi: http://dx.doi.org.ezp./10.18666/JNEL-2020-V10-I1-8954

Newman, S. A., & Gopalkrishnan, S. (2020). The Future of Technology in the Workplace: Considerations for Organizations to Prepare their Workforce. *Organization Development Review*, 52(4), 35–43.

Norris, K. (2019). Collective impact: How nonprofits can (and should) serve as catalysts for transformative social change. *U.S. Black Engineer & Information Technology*, *43*(1). 72-72. https://www.blackengineer.com/article/how-nonprofits-can-and-should-serve-as-catalysts-for-transformative-social-change/

Olubunmi A. A., & Samuel, A. T. (2017). Impact of Ict Usage in Improving Advertising Strategies in Selected Media House: A Case Study of Splash Fm (105.5). *Library Philosophy & Practice*, 1–47.

O'Toole, Laurence, J. (1997), "Implementing Public Innovations in Network Settings", Administration & Society, 29(2):115–38.

Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 42(5), 533–544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528- y.

Patel, D., Sarlati, S., Martin-Tuite, P., Feler, J., Chehab, L., Texada, M., Marquez,R., Orellana, F. J., Henderson, T. L., Nwabuo, A., Plevin, R., Dicker, R. A., Juillard, C.,& Sammann, A. (2020). Designing an information and communications technology tool

with and for victims of violence and their case managers in San Francisco: humancentered design study. *JMIR MHealth and UHealth*, 8(8), e15866. https://doiorg/10.2196/15866.

Patton MQ. (2002) Qualitative Evaluation and Research Methods (2nd Ed.).
Pessu, N. (2015). *Technological Factors for the Sustainability of the Small Business Entrepreneur*. ScholarWorks.

PR Newswire (2019, July 25) Technology for nonprofits helps group expand charitable reach. *PR Newswire US*.

Potnis, D., & Allard, S. (2018). Training LIS students as mobile technology consultants for libraries and not-for-profit organizations. *Journal of Education for Library and Information Science*, *59*(*4*), *253-264*. https// doi.org/10.3138/jelis.59.4.2018-0002

Raine L, Anderson J, (2017). The Future of Jobs and Jobs Training: https://www. pewinternet.org/2017/05/03/the-future-of-jobs-and-jobs-training/ SAS (2019). Artificial Intelligence Solutions.

Raman, A. (2016). How do social media, mobility, analytics and cloud computing impact nonprofit organizations? A pluralistic study of information and communication technologies in indian context, *Information Technology for Development*, *22(3)*, 400–421. https//doi.org/10.1080/02681102.2014.992002.

Rathi, D., & Given, L. M. (2017). Non-profit organizations' use of tools and technologies for knowledge management: a comparative study. *Journal of knowledge management*, 21(8), 718–740. /https//doi.org/10.1108/JKM-06-2016-0229

Reavis, D. (2019). Teaching case creating a request for proposal for software for a non-profit organization. *Journal of Information Systems Education*, *30*(2), *106–110*. https://aisel.aisnet.org/jise/vol30/iss2/4/.

Rehmani, K., Ahmad, Y., Naseem, A., & Syed, T. H. (2020). Do they really coexist? An empirical analysis of a conjoint implementation of Quality Management System and High-Performance Work System on organizational effectiveness. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(3), 1–20. https://doi-org./10.1371/journal.pone.0229508.

Rogers, Everett (1995), Diffusion of Innovation: Text Book. A Division of McMillan Publishing Co., Inc. New York.

Salido-Andres, N., Rey-Garcia, M., Alvarez-Gonzalez, L. I., & Vazquez-Casielles, R. (2018). Nonprofit organizations at the crossroads of offline and online fundraising in the digital era: The Influence of the volume of target beneficiaries on the success of donation-based crowdfunding through digital platforms. *CISTI (Iberian Conference on Information Systems & Technologies / Conferência Ibérica de Sistemas e Tecnologias de Informação) Proceedings*, 1–5.

Sandwith, P. (1993). A hierarchy of management training requirements: The competency domain model. *Public Personnel Management*, *22(1)*, 43-62. https//doi.org/10.1177/009102609302200104

Saunders, M.N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). *Research methods for business students*) (7th ed.) Essex, England: Pearson Education Limited.

Seng, L.K., Yusof, N. A, & Abidin, N. Z (2011), "Types of Innovation

Implemented by Housing Developer in Developing Countries", International Journal of Academic Research, 3(3): 614 – 618.

Schmidthuber, L., Maresch, D., & Ginner, M. (2020). Disruptive technologies and abundance in the service sector - toward a refined technology acceptance model. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, *155*. https://doi-

org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.06.017

Schramm, L. L. (2017). *Innovation technology: A dictionary*. De Gruyter. Shapiro, S. J., & Oystrick, V. (2018). Three steps toward sustainability:

Spreadsheets as a data-analysis system for non-profit organizations. *Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, *33*(2), 247–257. https//doi.org/10.3138/cjpe.31157

Shehu, E., Becker, J. U., Langmaack, A. C., & Clement, M. (2016). The brand personality of nonprofit organizations and the influence of monetary incentives. Journal of Business Ethics, 138, 589–600. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2595-3

Shin, Namchul (2019) "The impact of the web and social media on the performance of nonprofit organizations," *Journal of International Technology and Information Management*: 27(4),18-30.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/336278773.

Sinaeepourfard, A., Krogstie, J., & Sengupta, S. (2020). Distributed-to-Centralized Data Management: A New Sense of Large-Scale ICT Management of Smart

City IoT Networks. IEEE Internet of Things Magazine, Internet of Things Magazine,
IEEE, IEEE Internet Things M, 3(3), 76-82. https://doi-

org/10.1109/IOTM.0001.1900038

Skoric, M. M., Zhu, Q., Goh, D., & Pang, N. (2015). Social media and citizen engagement: A metaanalytic review. New Media & Society, Online 1st, 1–23. doi.org/10.1177/1461444815616221.

Stadin, M., Nordin, M., Broström, A., Magnusson Hanson, L. L., Westerlund, H., & Fransson, E. I. (2021). Technostress operationalised as information and communication technology (ICT) demands among managers and other occupational groups – Results from the Swedish Longitudinal Occupational Survey of Health (SLOSH). *Computers in Human Behavior*, *114*. https://doi-

org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106486.

Suryanegara, M., Harwahyu, R., Asvial, M., Setiawan, E. A., & Kusrini, E. (2019). Information and Communications Technology (Ict) as the Engine of Innovation in the Co-Evolution Mechanism. *International Journal of Technology*, 1260–1265. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.14716/ijtech.v10i7.3777.

Switzer, C. (2017). Technology That Lives and Breathes. *Chronicle of Philanthropy*, 29(5), 26–29.

Tenney, D., & Sheikh, N. J. (2019). Development of a Strategic Roadmap Framework for Nonprofit Organizations: Literature Review.2019 Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET), Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET), 2019 Portland International Conference On, 1– 11. https://doi-org/10.23919/PICMET.2019.8893887 Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and Delimitations in the Research Process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163. https://doi-

org.ezp./10.5281/zenodo.255202

Toffler, A. (1971). Future shock. Bantam Books.

Tolf, S., Mesterton, J., Söderberg, D., Amer-Wåhlin, I., & Mazzocato, P. (2020). How can technology support quality improvement? Lessons learned from the adoption of an analytics tool for advanced performance measurement in a hospital unit. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1), 816. https://doi-org./10.1186/s12913-020-05622-7

Toma, J. D. (2000). How getting close to your subject make qualitative data better. *Theory into Practice*, *39*(*3*), *177-184*. https//doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip3903_9

Thibodeaux, M. S. & Favilla, E. (Mar/Apr 1995). Strategic management and organizational effectiveness in colleges of business. Journal of Education for Business, 70, (4), 189-196.

Tremblay-Boire, J. and Prakash, A (2015). Accountability.org. online disclosure by US nonprofits, *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 26(2), 693-719. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-014-9452-3

Turi, J. A., Adresi, A. A., Darun, M. R., & Mahmud, F. (2020). Impact of
Information System and Blockchain on Organizational Learning
Effectiveness. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, 15(11), 89–
101. https://doi-org/10.3991/ijet.v15i11.12693

Tyler Technologies, I. (2017). Dominican Republic to strengthen orphan case management with software from Tyler technologies and non-profit both ends burning. business wire (English). McGraw-Hill Publishing.

Tysiac, K. (2018). Strategies for maintaining an effective board. Journal of Accountancy, 226(5), 1.

Tyler, D. A. (2018). *Nonprofit leaders' perceptions of leadership development and leadership competences* (Order No. 10829421). Available from ProQuest Central; ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (2072565550).

https://ezp.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com%2Fdissertationstheses%2Fnonprofit-leaders-perceptions-leadership%2Fdocview%2F2072565550%2Fse-2%3Faccountid%3D14872

Vedel, I., Ramaprasad, J., & Lapointe, L. (2020). Social Media Strategies for Health Promotion by Nonprofit Organizations: Multiple Case Study Design. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(4), e15586. https://doi-

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.2196/15586.

Wan Z. (2013). Alvin Toffler: Knowledge technology and change in future society. *International Journal of Islamic Thought*, 1(1),54-61.

https://doi.org/10.24035/ijit.01.2012.007_

West, A., & Ries, R. (2017). Top Challenges Facing Not-for-Profit CFOs Today. *CPA Journal*, 87(4), 6–8. Wieters, L., Wenzlau, K., & Perez, L. (2020). The Power of a 360-Degree Program Evaluation for a Nonprofit Organization. *Organization Development Review*, 52(3), 96–98.

Williams, B. K., Sawyer, S. C., & Berston, S. (2013) *Business: A practical introduction*, Pearson Education Inc.

Worth, M. J. (2013). Nonprofit Management: Principles and Practice (Third). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.

Wu, W., Zhang, Y., & Fan, Y. (2020). ICT Empowers the Formation and Development of Rural E-Commerce in China. *IEEE Access, Access, IEEE*, 8, 135264– 135283. https://doi-org./10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3011593

Yin, R.K. (2018) *Case study research: Design and method* (6th ed.) Sage Publishing.

Young, J. A. (2018). Equipping future nonprofit professionals with digital literacies for the 21st century. *Journal of Nonprofit Education & Leadership*, 8(1), 4

Zhang, P., Aikman, S., & Sun, H. (2008). Two Types of Attitudes in ICT Acceptance and Use. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, *24*(7), 628– 648. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/10447310802335482

Zhang, F., & Feeney, M. K. (2020). Engaging through technology: the role of administrative culture and mandates. *Public Management Review*, 22(10), 1423–1442. https://doi-org./10.1080/14719037.2019.1630475

Zilic, T. (2020). Shared Services Business Model in ICT environment. 2020 43rd International Convention on Information, Communication and Electronic Technology (MIPRO), Information, Communication and Electronic Technology (MIPRO), 2020 43rd International Convention On, 1367–1372. https://doi-

org./10.23919/MIPRO48935.2020.9245148

•

Zgoda, K., & Shane, K. (2018). Digital literacy in social work education: A case study incorporating technology and social media within the social work curriculum. Journal of Nonprofit Education & Leadership, 8(1), 32-40. https/doi.org/10.18666/JNEL-2018-V8-I1-8350 Appendix A: Email Invitation to Participate in the Study Dear Potential Participants,

My name is Richard T. Evans, and I am a doctoral student at Walden University. I am inviting you to take part in a research interview concerning the technological adoption strategies for your nonprofit organization. The purpose of this research study is to explore the strategies of nonprofit leaders use to implement technology to improve their organizations' business operations.

I would like to conduct several interviews at your location at your convenience. The interview will last about 30-45 minutes. After all interviews, I will transcribe the content and request verification for accuracy. I will then request a meeting to verify the content of the interview.

I look forward to hearing from you in the near future. Your participation will be in this study will be most valuable to this study and very much appreciated. The name of your organization, and all interview participants will not be revealed. If you have any questions, please let me know. I will set up a phone conference to answer your questions or concerns.

Best regards,

Richard T. Evans MBA, MSMIS, MSCS, DBA candidate. (Richard.Evans2@waldenu.edu)

Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. Describe the ICT that is used in your organization?
- 2. What key challenges have you faced in implementing the ICT incorporation strategies into your organization?
- 3. What strategies do you use to incorporate ICT into your business operations?
- 4. How did you address the key challenges to integrating ICT in your organization's business operations to improve organization efficiencies and effectiveness?
- 5. How did ICT technologies improve the duties and tasks of the staff of your organization?
- 6. How did ICT technology improve the services that are offered by the organization?
- 7. What additional information can you provide about the ICT strategies used to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the business operations of your organization?

Appendix C: Informed Consent Form

You are invited to take part in a research study on strategies used by nonprofit leaders to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve nonprofit organizational efficiencies and effectiveness. This study is being conducted by a researcher named Richard Evans, who is a graduate student in the Doctor of Business Administration program at Walden University.

Study Purpose

The purpose of this study is to explore strategies used by nonprofit leaders to incorporate ICT into business operations to improve nonprofit organizational efficiencies and effectiveness. The results of this study may contribute to organizational efficiencies by the adoption of ICT allowing for increased services to the community.

Procedure

Step 1: You will participate in a face-to-face interview of approximately 45-60 minutes. The interview will be audio taped to ensure accuracy of the data collected.

Step 2: You will participate in a member checking interview of approximately 15-30 minutes to ensure your responses were accurately captured in the interview.

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked:

- What key challenges have you faced in implementing the ICT incorporation strategies into your organization?
- What strategies do you use to incorporate ICT into your business operations?
- How did you address the key challenges to integrating ICT in your organization's business operations to improve organization efficiencies and effectiveness?

Voluntary Nature of the Study

Your participation in this study is voluntary. Everyone will respect your decision whether or not you choose to participate in this study. If you accept the invitation to participate, you can change your mind at any time during the study. No one at your organization will treat you differently if you decide not to participate in the study.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Participating in this study will not pose any risk or adversely affect your safety.

The results of this study may be beneficial to your organization by providing insight into the strategies by promoting technology to improve the organization's business operation.

Payment:

There is no incentive for voluntarily participating in the study.

Privacy

Any information you provide will be kept confidential. As the researcher, I will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of the research project. The researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in the study reports. The researcher will keep all data in a secure locked cabinet. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university, then shredded and destroyed completely.

Contacts and Questions

If you have questions, please contact me via email at

<u>Richard.evans2@waldenu.edu</u> or by phone at 708-254-9102. If you want to talk privately

about your rights as a participant or any other parts of the study, you can call Walden University's Research Participant Advocate at 612-312-1210. Walden University's approval number for this study is ______. It expires on ______.

Statement of Consent

I have read the above information and I understand the study well enough to make a decision about my involvement. By signing below, I understand that I am agreeing to the terms described above.

Printed Name of Participant
Date of consent
Participant's Signature
Researcher's Signature

Appendix D: Observation Protocol

The purpose of direct observation in this single case study is to explore the incorporation of ICT strategy the nonprofit organization use to increase the organizational efficiency and effectiveness.

- 1. Before conducting the face-to-face semi-structured interviews, I will observe the daily tasks and business operation of the working staff for a period of 60 minutes.
- 2. During the direct observation, I will be looking for defined information:
 - a. How potential data is collected?
 - b. How the data collected is stored and become record in the organizational system?What software is used to collect and maintain the data?
 - c. What is the data follow of new acquired records?
 - d. What are the systems that are a part of the business operation?
 - e. Are the systems integrated or are they separated systems?
 - f. How does the system work and what is your role?
- Following each observation, I will produce a documented recollection of the direct. Observations.
- 4. Observations will be included in the data collection for analysis and coding.